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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Shareholder
Colonial Group International Ltd.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Colonial Group International Ltd. and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in shareholder’s equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.



2

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

 
Hamilton, Bermuda
May 13, 2020
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Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $ 87,002,388 $ 71,801,952 
Financial assets (Notes 4, 12 and 14) 255,783,153 238,174,134 
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 6,615,954 7,076,879 
Amounts due from related companies (Note 14) 19,035,553 20,137,487 
Insurance balances receivable (Note 5) 33,503,473 31,922,688 
Reinsurance balances receivable 8,201,123 7,787,138 
Losses recoverable from reinsurers (Notes 6 and 7) 33,861,070 30,710,145 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 26,427,952 22,721,755 
Prepaids and other assets 2,997,478 3,242,006 
Provision for future policy benefits (Note 7) 2,122,686 2,817,084 
Deferred acquisition costs (Note 7)  4,697,203 4,312,631 
Investment in Associate (Note 20) 11,374,541 –

Short term loan to Associate (Note 20) 1,448,066 –

Property, plant and equipment (Note 10) 39,231,594 14,257,691 
Intangible assets (Note 11) 3,929,844 4,869,297 
Goodwill (Note 9) 6,518,300 6,518,300 
Total general fund assets 542,750,378 466,349,187 
Segregated fund assets (Note 16) 866,438,498 765,728,788 
Total assets $ 1,409,188,876 $ 1,232,077,975 

Liabilities  
Bank overdraft (Note 3) $ 2,036,261 $ 2,309,677 
Funds held on behalf of clients (Note 8) 2,497,573 4,322,109 
Contributions payable to segregated funds 732,414 752,410 
Lease liabilities (Note 15)  25,580,915 –

Amounts due to related companies (Note 14) 1,050,808 673,391 
Reinsurance balances payable – Non-life 15,931,083 12,690,371 
Outstanding losses and loss expenses (Note 6) 83,905,062 68,206,400 
Policyholder benefits payable (Note 7) 4,200,289 3,609,189 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 16,668,422 15,336,501 
Reinsurance balances payable – Life (Note 7) 7,635,745 7,918,418 
Unearned premiums 51,228,066 46,637,062 
Premiums received in advance 350,007 355,579 
Deferred commission income 7,002,505 6,041,815 
Total general fund liabilities 218,819,150 168,852,922 
Segregated fund liabilities (Note 16) 866,438,498 765,728,788 
Total liabilities $ 1,085,257,648 $ 934,581,710 



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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December 31 
2019 2018 

Shareholder’s equity

Share capital (Note 13) $ 1,512,000 $ 1,512,000 
Share premium (Note 13) 2,500,000 2,500,000 
Contributed surplus (Note 13) 9,804,469 9,804,469 
Retained earnings 295,713,703 270,513,791 
Other comprehensive income 102,757 443,203 
Total equity attributable to the equity holder of the group 309,632,929 284,773,463 
Non-controlling interest (Note 13) 14,298,299 12,722,802 
Total equity 323,931,228 297,496,265 

Total liabilities and equity $ 1,409,188,876 $ 1,232,077,975 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 

Director  Director 
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Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 Year Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 
Premiums written and assumed:   

General business  $ 394,839,342 $ 388,638,850 
Life business 7,452,165 6,497,277 
Change in unearned premiums (4,591,004) (6,817,857) 

Premiums earned 397,700,503 388,318,270 
   
Reinsurance premiums ceded (86,452,313) (78,615,938) 
Change in prepaid reinsurance premiums 3,706,197 4,112,904 
Premiums ceded (82,746,116) (74,503,034) 

   
Net premiums earned 314,954,387 313,815,236 
   
Policy service fees on investment contracts 775,932 387,368 
Service fee income 15,025,588 15,369,166 
Other income 491,753 883,743 
Commission earned on reinsurance 16,112,205 15,170,314 
Commission expense (12,074,237) (10,965,382) 
Other underwriting expenses (6,043,081) (14,188,125) 
Net premiums earned, fees and commissions 329,242,547 320,472,320 
   
Claims paid (Note 6) (289,433,572) (299,257,280) 
Change in outstanding loss provisions (Note 6) (15,698,662) 63,052,785 
Claims recovered and recoverable from reinsurers (Note 6) 68,376,056 13,338,421 
Net claims incurred – Non-life (236,756,178) (222,866,074) 
   
Policyholder benefits paid (5,852,515) (1,957,154) 
Change in provision for future benefits (Note 7) (694,398) 322,676 
Loss recoveries 3,608,549 442,287 
Change in reinsurance liabilities (Note 7) 282,673 (853,212) 
Net claims recovered (incurred) – Life (2,655,691) (2,045,403) 
   
Net underwriting income 89,830,678 95,560,847 
   
Investment income (Note 4) 20,137,080 (614,609) 
General and administrative expenses (Note 17) (79,055,112) (76,617,245) 
Net income for the year $ 30,912,646 $ 18,328,989 

  



 Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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 Year Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 
Other comprehensive income:   

Unrealized (loss) gain on financial assets held at fair value through 
Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) $ (340,446) $ 236,563 

Other comprehensive (loss) income $ (340,446) $ 236,563 
Total comprehensive income for the year $ 30,572,200 $ 18,565,552 
   
Attributable to:   

Owners of the Group $ 28,234,508 $ 17,286,172 
Non-controlling interests 2,337,692 1,279,380 
 $ 30,572,200 $ 18,565,552 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



  
8 

Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

  Attributable to the Equity Holder of the Group   
 

Share 
Capital 

Share  
Premium 

Contributed 
Surplus 

Retained  
Earnings 

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income Total 

Non-
Controlling 

Interest 
Total 

Equity 
         
Balance at December 31, 

2017 $ 1,512,000 $ 2,500,000 $ 9,804,469 $ 258,464,182 $ 206,640 $ 272,487,291 $ 13,443,422 $ 285,930,713 
Dividends (Note 19) – – – (5,000,000) – (5,000,000) (2,000,000) (7,000,000) 
Net income for the year – – – 17,049,609 236,563 17,286,172 1,279,380 18,565,552 

Balance at December 31, 
2018 $ 1,512,000 $ 2,500,000 $ 9,804,469 $ 270,513,791 $ 443,203 $ 284,773,463 $ 12,722,802 $ 297,496,265 
Adjustment for profit 
commission (Note 21) – – – 624,958 – 624,958 – 624,958 

Adjusted Balance at 
January 1, 2019 $ 1,512,000 $ 2,500,000 $ 9,804,469 $ 271,138,749 $ 443,203 $ 285,398,421 $ 12,722,802 $ 298,121,223 
Dividends (Note 19) – – – (4,000,000) – (4,000,000) (762,195) (4,762,195) 
Net income for the year – – – 28,574,954 (340,446) 28,234,508 2,337,692 30,572,200 

Balance at December 31, 
2019 $ 1,512,000 $ 2,500,000 $ 9,804,469 $ 295,713,703 $ 102,757 $ 309,632,929 $ 14,298,299 $ 323,931,228 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 Year Ended December 31 
 2019 2018 
Operating activities   
Total Comprehensive income for the year $ 30,572,200 $ 18,565,552 
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 10 and 11) 6,827,938 4,215,040 
Gain on disposal of assets (5,270) (82) 
Interest on lease liabilities 1,323,411 – 
Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial assets held at fair value  

through profit and loss (7,720,251) 6,492,270 
Net unrealized losses (gains) on financial assets at FVOCI 340,446 (236,563) 
Share of loss in associated company 267,533 – 
Realized (gains) on sale of financial assets (7,606,950) (1,336,272) 
Bond amortization (179,061) (166,772) 

Operating cash flow before changes in operating working capital 23,819,996 27,533,173 
Change in operating working capital (Note 18) 17,069,657 (8,852,405) 
Cash flows provided by operating activities  40,889,653 18,680,768 
   
Investing activities   
Proceeds from sale of financial assets 147,935,902 156,375,413 
Purchase of financial assets (150,379,105) (175,739,394) 
Purchase of intangible assets (software) (Note 11) (863,158) (1,055,774) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 10) (2,391,744) (1,197,277) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 20,027 15,999 
Repayments from related companies 1,479,351 4,581,183 
Investment in Associate (Note 20) (11,642,074) – 
Short term loan to Associate (Note 20) (1,448,066) – 
Cash used in investing activities (17,288,867) (17,019,850) 
   
Financing activities   
Payments on principal portion of lease liabilities (3,364,739) – 
Dividends paid to owners (Note 19) (4,000,000) (5,000,000) 
Dividends paid to minority interest  (762,195) (2,000,000) 
Cash used by financing activities (8,126,934) (7,000,000) 
   
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,473,852 (5,339,082) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 69,492,275 74,831,357 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 84,966,127 $ 69,492,275 

  



 Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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 December 31 
 2019 2018 
Represented by:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 87,002,388 $ 71,801,952 
Bank overdraft (2,036,261) (2,309,677) 

 $ 84,966,127 $ 69,492,275 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

December 31, 2019 

1. General 

Colonial Group International Ltd. (the Company) was incorporated in Bermuda as a holding company and 
has its head office at the Jardine House, 33-35 Reid Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The Company is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Edmund Gibbons Limited (the Parent Company). 

The Company and its subsidiaries (together forming the Group) operate in Bermuda, the Bahamas, the 
Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the Turks and Caicos Islands and Barbados underwriting life, 
health and property and casualty insurance. The Group also issues a diversified portfolio of investment 
contracts to provide its customers with asset management solutions for their savings and retirement assets. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include: 

Company Domicile Principal Activities 
Ownership 
Percentage 

    

Colonial Insurance Company 
Limited (CICL) Bermuda 

Property and casualty insurance: 
motor, home and commercial 
property, marine, general liability. 100% 

Colonial Medical Insurance 
Company Limited (CMICL) Bermuda 

Group and individual medical and 
group life insurance. 100% 

Colonial Life Assurance Company 
Limited (CLACL) Bermuda 

Individual life and annuities, 
accidental death.  
CLACL also writes unit linked 
investment policies and personal 
pension plans 100% 

Atlantic Medical Insurance Limited 
(AMIL) Bahamas 

Group and individual medical and 
life insurance 100% 

Security & General Insurance 
Company Limited (S&GL) Bahamas 

Property and casualty insurance: 
motor, home and commercial 
property, marine, general liability 70% 

  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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1. General (continued) 

Company Domicile Principal Activities 
Ownership 
Percentage 

    

British Caymanian Holdings Limited 
(BCHL)1 

Cayman 
Islands 

Property and casualty insurance: 
motor, home and commercial 
property, marine, general liability 75% 

Colonial Private Trustee Limited 
(CPTL) Bermuda 

Trustee of assets of the pension 
plans administered by CPS 100% 

Colonial Pension Services Ltd 
(CPSL)2 Bermuda 

Pension plans administration and 
investment business 100% 

Colonial Insurance (BVI)  
Limited (BVIL) 

British Virgin 
Islands 

Property and casualty insurance: 
motor, home and commercial 
property, marine, general liability. 
Group and individual medical *50% 

Colonial Re Ltd. (CRL) Bermuda Property catastrophe reinsurance  100% 
Nassau Insurance Brokers and 

Agents Limited (NIBAL) Bahamas Insurance broker of S&GL *40% 
CGI Property Holding (Bahamas) 
Limited Bahamas 

Land development  
100% 

CGI Property Holding (Bermuda) 
Limited Bermuda 

Property holding company  
100% 

CGI Insurance Holdings Limited 
(formerly Colonial Insurance 
Brokers Limited) 

Turks & Caicos
Islands 

Insurance agent for S&GL and 
CMICL 

100% 
  

 
 
1 BCHL acts as a holding company for shareholders’ ownerships in British Caymanian Insurance Company Limited (BritCay Insurance) and British 
Caymanian Insurance Agencies (BritCay Agencies), both are Cayman Islands registered companies and are direct wholly owned subsidiaries. 

2 CPSL has a wholly owned subsidiary Colonial Pension Services (Bahamas) Limited (CPSBL) incorporated under the laws of the Bahamas as 
Atlantic Pension Services Ltd. (APS) to manage pension funds and provide related advisory services in the Bahamas. The name was changed to 
Colonial Pension Services (Bahamas) Limited on June 14, 2005. 

* The Group considers that it controls BVIL and NIBAL entities even through the Group does not own more than 50% of the voting rights. This is 
because the management of BVIL’s and NIBAL’s operations and decision making power is held by the Group. 



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements, including all notes, were authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors on May 13, 2020. 

Basis of Measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been compiled on the going concern basis and prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, which are stated at fair value, and financial assets carried 
at amortized cost, which are carried at amortized cost. The consolidated statement of financial position is 
presented in order of liquidity. 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
as at December 31, 2019. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 
  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including: 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends, are eliminated in full. 

Investments in Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control 
over those policies. 

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary 
to determine control over subsidiaries. The Group’s investment in its associate and joint venture are 
accounted for using the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. 
The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets 
of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture 
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. 



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Bermuda dollars, which is the Group’s presentation 
currency. 

Transactions in Foreign Currencies 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group 
or its subsidiaries are translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect on the transaction 
dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses are expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain and loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets classified as available for sale are included in other comprehensive income. 

Translation to the Presentation Currency 

The financial statements of foreign operations are translated from their respective functional currency to 
Bermuda dollars, the Group’s presentation currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at rates of exchange 
at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated using the average rates of exchange. The 
accumulated gains and losses arising from translation of functional currencies to the presentation currency 
are included in other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

The Bahamas and British Virgin Islands operation’s functional currency is in Bahamian dollar and United 
States dollar, respectively, both currencies are on par with Bermuda dollars. The exchange rate between the 
Cayman Islands and Bermuda dollars has remained unchanged since the acquisition of the Cayman Islands 
operation in 2006. Since July 5, 1975, the Barbados dollar has been pegged to the US dollar at US$1 = 
Bds$2. As a result, there are no unrealized translation gains and losses to be reported.  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, and the results of which form the basis of making the 
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying IFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and that have the most significant effect on amounts recognized 
in the financial statements: 

Commission income from the sale of Health, Pension and Investment products is generally recognized over 
time, like most service revenue. This is because the customer generally receives and consumes the benefits 
from these services simultaneously as the Group performs them. The consideration is allocated to the 
distinct time increments of service up to the measurement date at the end of the month, and all of the 
variability associated with those time increments is resolved. 

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the process of applying IFRS 16, 
Leases and that have the most significant effect on amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

Determining the Lease Term of Contracts With Renewal Options – Group as Lessee 

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered 
by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the 
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic 
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group 
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control 
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate. 

The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for the lease of its building as the Group 
has a history of exercising its option to renew for this property and there is no intent to displace elsewhere. 

Leases – Estimating the Incremental Borrowing Rate 

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have 
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what 
the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when 
they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating). 

In addition to the above, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments 
in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements are described in the Notes 4, 6, 7 and 12. 

  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is determined based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is measured using the assumptions 
that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability. The Group determines fair value by 
using quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities. When quoted prices in 
active markets are not available, fair value is determined using valuation techniques that maximize the use 
of observable inputs. When observable valuation inputs are not available, significant judgment is required 
to determine fair value by assessing the valuation techniques and valuation inputs. The use of alternative 
valuation techniques or valuation inputs may result in a different fair value. A description of the fair value 
methodologies and assumptions by type of asset is included in Note 4. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group considers all cash on hand, net of 
overdrafts and time deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and money market funds 
which can be redeemed without penalty as equivalent to cash. 

Financial Assets 

The Group has the following financial assets: (i) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
(ii) financial assets held at amortised cost, and (iii) financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. Management determines the classification at initial recognition and is dependent 
on the nature of the assets and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. 

Initial Recognition and Measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets held at amortized cost 
as appropriate.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the 
practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured 
at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it 
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent Measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified as follows: 

• Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 
instruments) 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon de-recognition (equity instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost 

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:  

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognized, modified or impaired. 

Financial assets classified as investments at amortized cost include notes and bonds, loans and other 
receivables and term deposits. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through OCI (Debt Instruments) 

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 
contractual cash flows and selling. 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and 
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same 
manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized 
in OCI. Upon de-recognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or 
loss. 

Financial assets classified as FVTOCI include holdings in Bahamian Government bonds. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through OCI (Equity Instruments) 

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis.  

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized as 
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when 
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, 
such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to 
impairment assessment. 

The Group has not designated any financial assets under this classification. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily 
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not 
solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at 
amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair 
value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an 
accounting mismatch. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 
value with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

This category includes listed equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at 
fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are also recognized as other income in the 
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is derecognized when the Group’s rights to contractual cash flows expire, when the Group 
transfers substantially all its risks and rewards of ownership or when the Group no longer retains control. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- 
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group 
has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group 
could be required to repay. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Group’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of 
underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of 
the ECL models that are considered accounting judgments and estimates include: 

• The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, and so 
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a Lifetime ECL (“LTECL”) basis and the 
qualitative assessment 

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis 

• Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs 

• Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such as 
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, Exposure at Default (“EAD”) 
and Loss Given Defaults (“LGD”) 

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive 
the economic inputs into the ECL models 

Under the general approach, expected credit losses are categorized into one of three stages. Under stage 1 
of the general approach, each financial asset or financial asset grouping will be measured for expected credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months subsequent to the current fiscal 
period (12-month ECL). Under stage 2 and 3 of the general approach, the financial asset or financial asset 
group must recognize an expected credit loss allowance for possible default events that may take place over 
the remaining life of the instrument (lifetime ECL). The categorization of an individual asset or asset group 
into stage 1, stage 2 or stage 3 is determined by whether there was a significant increase in credit risk since 
the initial recognition to the reporting date, with the exception of an asset that is categorized as low credit 
risk. 

The stage 1 ECL classification is used for low credit risk assets or assets that have shown significant 
improvement in credit quality and is reclassified from stage 2 or has had no significant change in credit risk 
since initial recognition.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The stage 2 ECL classification is used for assets for which there has been a significant decrease in credit 
quality since initial recognition, or stage 3 assets that have shown significant improvement in credit quality. 
The stage 3 ECL is reserved for assets considered to be credit impaired. 

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are 
more than 30 days past due. Further, the Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual 
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to 
be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the 
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual 
cash flows. 

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based 
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment.  

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the 
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or Cash Generating 
Unit’s (CGU’s) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset or CGU. The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, 
which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable 
amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of 
the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata 
basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses are 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

The Group is, from time to time, involved in various claims, legal proceedings and complaints arising in 
the ordinary course of business. The Group, in conjunction with internal counsel, makes its best estimate 
of the likelihood or outcome of these actions and considers this in the Group’s accrued liabilities based on 
information as of the date the financial statements are available to be issued. The Group does not disclose 
information usually required by IAS 37 on the grounds to not prejudice seriously the outcome of any 
litigation but does not believe that adverse decisions in any pending or threatened proceedings will have a 
material impact on the financial condition or future results of operations. 

Insurance and Investment Contracts 

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group has accepted significant insurance risk from the 
policyholders by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured 
event) adversely affects the policyholders. Contracts under which the Group does not accept significant 
insurance risk are classified as either investment contracts or considered service contracts and are accounted 
for in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
respectively.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the 
remainder of its term, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights 
and obligations are extinguished or expire. Investment contracts can be reclassified as insurance contracts 
if insurance risk subsequently becomes significant. 

Premiums 

The Group’s insurance premiums from health, short-duration life and property and casualty insurance 
contracts are earned pro rata over the term of the applicable risk period specified in the insurance policy. 
The Group’s insurance policies cover losses occurring or claims made during the term of the policy. 
Generally, the Group receives a fixed premium which is identified in the policy and is recorded on the 
inception date of the contract and earned evenly over the policy term. 

Premiums from long-term life insurance contracts are recognized as revenue when they become payable by 
contract holder. 

Net premiums represent gross premiums, net of the share ceded to reinsurers for insuring part of the risk. 
Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums written applicable to the unexpired terms of policies 
in force. 

Unit-Linked Long Term Insurance Contracts 

A unit-linked insurance contract is an insurance contract with an embedded derivative linking payments on 
the contract to units of an internal investment fund set by the Group with the consideration received from 
the contract holders. This embedded derivative meets the definition of an insurance contract and is not 
therefore accounted for separately from the host insurance contract. The liability for such contracts is 
adjusted for all changes in the fair value of the underlying assets. 

Insurance premiums for these contracts are recognized directly as liabilities. These liabilities are increased 
by change in the unit price and are decreased by policy administration fees, mortality and surrender charges 
and any withdrawals. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The liability for these contracts includes any amounts necessary to compensate the Group for services to be 
performed over future periods. The mortality charges deducted in each period from the contract holders as 
a group are considered adequate to cover the expected total death benefit claims in excess of the contract 
account balances in each period; no additional liability established for these claims. 

Revenue from these contracts consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy administration and surrender 
charges. Interest or charges in the unit price credited to the account balances and excess benefit claims 
incurred in the period are charged as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Investment Contracts 

Investment contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged. 
These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, this being the transaction price excluding any 
transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the contract. Subsequent to initial recognition 
investment, contract liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Fair value is calculated as the number of units allocated to the policyholder in each unit-linked fund 
multiplied by the unit-price of those funds at the reporting date. The fund assets and fund liabilities used to 
determine the unit prices at the reporting date are valued on a basis consistent with their measurement basis 
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. See note on Segregated Funds. 

The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled. For a contract that 
can be cancelled by the policyholder, the fair value of the contract cannot be less than the surrender value. 

Receivables and Payables Related to Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts 

Receivables and payables are recognized when due. These include amounts due to and from insurance 
contract holders, brokers and agents. Premiums receivable are recorded at amounts due less any allowance 
for estimated uncollectible premiums receivable.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Included in the insurance balances receivable are loans to policyholders inclusive of accrued interest. These 
loans are fully secured by the cash surrender values on the policies on which the respective loans are issued. 

Deferred Acquisition Costs 

Deferred acquisition costs represent the cost of acquiring new business, consisting of commission expenses, 
policy issuance and other costs, which are directly related to the production of new business. Deferred 
acquisition costs on investment contracts are amortized over the expected average lives of the contracts as 
a constant percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits arising principally from investment 
results, mortality and expenses margins and surrender charges, based on historical and anticipated future 
experience. Deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts are reviewed for recoverability from future 
income, including investment income, and amounts which are deemed unrecoverable are expensed in the 
period in which the determination is made. Acquisition costs on insurance business are deferred and 
amortized to income over the period in which the premiums are earned. 

Reinsurance Contracts Held 

The Group uses reinsurance in the normal course of business to manage its risk exposure. Insurance ceded 
to a reinsurer does not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders. The Group remains liable to 
its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent that any reinsurer does not meet its obligations for 
reinsurance ceded to it under the reinsurance agreements. 

Reinsurance assets represent the benefit derived from reinsurance agreements in force at the reporting date, 
taking into account the financial condition of the reinsurer. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are 
estimated in accordance with the terms of the relevant reinsurance contract. 

Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. Reinsurance assets are not offset against the related insurance contract liabilities 
and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

Reinsurance profit commission is calculated based on past underwriting results and in accordance with the 
terms of the reinsurance contracts, and is received from the reinsurers. The reinsurance profit commission 
is recorded on the accrual basis.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Outstanding Losses and Loss Expenses 

Unpaid losses and loss expenses in the consolidated statement of financial position include (i) reserves for 
reported unpaid losses and loss expenses, (ii) losses incurred but not reported (referred to as IBNR reserves) 
and (iii) provision for future policy benefits. 

(i) Reserves for reported unpaid losses 

The reserve for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses is established for losses that have been 
reported, but not yet paid. The reserve for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses is estimated 
based on claims reported from insureds or amounts reported from ceding companies, and represent 
the estimated ultimate cost of events or conditions that have been reported to or specifically 
identified by the Group. 

(ii) IBNR reserves 

IBNR reserves represent provision for claims that have been incurred but not yet reported to the 
Group, as well as future losses development on losses already reported, in excess of the reserve for 
reported unpaid losses and loss expenses. The Group appointed actuaries are responsible for 
determining the amount of the IBNR reserves. The Group actuaries employ a variety of generally 
accepted methodologies to determine estimated ultimate loss reserves, including the “Bornhuetter-
Ferguson incurred loss method” and frequency and severity approaches. 

(iii) Provision for future policy benefits 

The Group estimates the present value of future policy benefits related to long duration contracts 
using assumptions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse 
deviation. The Group appointed actuaries are responsible for determining the amount of life and 
annuity policy reserve in accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of 
Actuaries. Insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance assets, have been determined using 
CALM (Canadian Asset Liability Method) as permitted by IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Group’s outstanding losses and loss expense reserves are reviewed regularly, and adjustments, if any, 
are reflected in earnings in the period in which they become known. The establishment of new losses and 
loss expense reserves or the adjustment of previously recorded loss and loss expense reserves could result 
in significant positive or negative changes to the Group’s financial condition for any particular period. 
While management believes the Group’s estimate of losses and loss expense reserves is reasonable, the 
ultimate loss experience may not be reliably predicted, and it is possible losses and loss expenses may be 
materially different than the total reserve for losses and loss expenses recorded by the Group. 

Insurance Benefits 

Insurance benefits are recorded as expense when they are incurred. These insurance benefits include death 
benefits, annuity benefits, surrenders and interest paid on policy dividends held on deposit. Insurance 
benefits which are outstanding and unpaid at year-end are included in policyholder benefits payable. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property or equipment is recognized in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The 
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized as incurred in general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Depreciation is charged to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows: 

Computer hardware 5 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 – 10 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years
Property 50 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

Right of use asset – Motor vehicles Up to 3 years
Right of use asset – Buildings Up to 14 years

 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the 
fair value of the Group’s proportionate share of net identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired business 
at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment loss. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis. Any impairment is recognized 
immediately as an expense. 

Identifiable Intangible Assets 

Finite-life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life. The Group has 
classified software costs as intangible assets if they are not an integral part of the computer equipment. 
Finite-life intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided 
for on a straight line basis over the following estimated useful lives. 

Computer software 5 years 
Portfolio acquisition costs 10 – 20 years 

 
Segregated Funds 

Segregated funds arise as a result of CPSL and CPSBL entering into contractual arrangements to administer 
pension schemes and CLACL issuing investment contracts. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Segregated funds are products for which the Group issues a contract where the benefit amount is directly 
linked to the fair value of the investments held in the particular segregated fund. Although the underlying 
assets are registered in the Group and its subsidiaries’ name and the segregated fund contract holder has no 
direct access to the specific assets, the contractual arrangements are such that the segregated fund 
policyholder bears the risks and rewards of the fund’s investment performance. 

Segregated funds’ net assets are recorded at fair value and primarily include investments in mutual funds, 
debt securities, equities, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents. The segregated assets are 
not available to creditors of the Group and the holders of the pension contracts and unit-linked life and 
investment contracts have no recourse to the Group’s assets. Segregated funds net liabilities are measured 
based on the value of the segregated fund net assets. 

The methodology applied to determine the fair value of investments held in segregated funds is consistent 
with that applied to direct investments held by the Group, as described above in the note Financial Assets. 
The segregated fund assets and liabilities are presented in separate lines in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Investment returns on segregated fund assets belong to policyholders and pension planholders and the 
Group does not bear the risk associated with these assets. Accordingly, investment income earned by 
segregated funds and expenses incurred by segregated funds are offset and are not separately presented in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Fee income earned by the Group for managing the 
segregated funds is included in service fee income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Fees and Commission Income 

Fees and commission income primarily represent fees earned from the management of the Group’s 
segregated funds, administrative services income and reinsurance commission income. Fees and 
commission income are recorded on an accrual basis when services are rendered. 

  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 

  
 33

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Leases 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

Right of Use Assets 

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

The right-of use assets are also subject to impairment. 

Lease Liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value 
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on 
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments 
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 
terminate.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they 
are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After 
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

Short-Term Leases 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

Investment Income 

Interest on cash and debt securities is recorded on an accrual basis. Dividend income is recognized when 
the right to receive it is established. For loans and receivables reported at amortized cost, interest income is 
calculated using the effective interest rate method and is reported in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Rental income from investment properties is reported in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income linearly according to the term of the lease. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Defined Contribution Plan 

Contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognized as an expense in net income or loss in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan 
under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient funds to pay all employees the 
benefits relating to employee service in current and prior periods. 

Retiree Health Benefits 

Group employees are part of the Colonial Group International Ltd Retirees Pension and Health Insurance 
benefits (Colonial Plan) whereby, the retirees will be reimbursed by the Group for a portion of the Provident 
Medical Plan premium at 50%, after 15 years of service. This plan is sponsored by the shareholder – 
Edmund Gibbons Limited. There is no contractual agreement or stated policy with EGL for charging the 
Group its share of net defined benefit cost and therefore, the portion of premium paid for the eligible retiree 
is included in expenses. 

Taxation 

Under the laws of Bermuda, the Cayman Islands, the Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands there are 
presently no income, withholding or capital gains taxes payable by the Group and its subsidiaries. 

New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Published Standards 

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Effective and Adopted From the Financial Year 
Beginning January 1, 2019 

The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of 
adoption of this new accounting standard is described below. 

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have an impact on 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, 
interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-
15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize most leases on the balance sheet. 

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial 
application of January 1, 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial application. The Group 
elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at 
January 1, 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified 
as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. 

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at January 1, 2019 was an increase in Right-of-Use Assets and Lease 
Liabilities by $27,631,729. 

The Group has lease contracts for buildings and motor vehicles. Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group 
classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as operating leases. 

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases 
except for short-term leases. The standard provides specific transition requirements and practical 
expedients, which have been applied by the Group. The Group recognized right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. The right-of-use assets for most leases were recognized based on the amount equal to 
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the 
date of initial application. 

  



Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 

  
 37

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The Group also applied the available practical expedients wherein it: 

• Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial 
application 

• Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 months of 
the date of initial application 

• Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 
application 

• Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or 
terminate the lease 

• The lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019, can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as 
of December 31, 2018, as follows: 

Operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2018 $ 9,582,075 
Incremental borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019 5%
Discounted operating lease commitments as of January 1, 2019 8,889,927 
Lease payments relating to renewal periods not included in  

operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 18,741,802 
Lease liabilities as of January 1, 2019 $ 27,631,729 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations but not Effective for the Financial Year Beginning 
January 1, 2019, and not Early Adopted 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts was issued in May 2017 and provides a comprehensive new accounting 
standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. The 
overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful 
and consistent for insurers. IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2023. 
Early application is permitted, provided that the Group also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the 
date it first applies IFRS 17. The Group intends to adopt the standard at it mandatory effective date and is 
currently evaluating the impact of this standard. 

There were no other such standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are expected 
to have a significant impact on the Group. 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent balances in the amount of $23,082,303 (2018 – $15,916,314) are held by 3 
Bermuda based financial institutions, $23,316,008 (2018 – $12,398,309) are held by 3 banks in the 
Bahamas, $26,312,296 (2018 – $19,049,192) are held at 5 banks in the Cayman Islands and $3,798,558 
(2018 – $2,391,376) are held at 2 banks in Barbados. 

Included within cash and cash equivalents are restricted deposits of $56,799 (2018 – $432,474), $1,281,767 
(2018 – $1,231,767), $73,424 (2018 – $73,405) and $201,626 (2018 – $125,000) with financial institutions 
in the Cayman Islands, Turks & Caicos Islands, British Virgin Islands and Barbados respectively. The 
money is being held in favor of the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority and the Superintendent of 
Insurance of the Turks & Caicos Islands as part of that country’s regulatory requirement. These amounts 
are not to be reduced or removed without the prior written consent of the Cayman Islands Monetary 
Authority and the Superintendent of Insurance in the Turks & Caicos Islands. $628,141 (2018 – $628,141) 
has been deposited with the Insurance Commission of Barbados as a licensing requirement. 
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4. Financial Assets 

At the balance sheet date, financial assets are categorized as follows: 

 2019 2018 
 

Carrying 
Value 

Cost/ 
Amortized 

Cost 
Carrying  

Value 

Cost/ 
Amortized 

Cost 
     
At fair value through 

profit or loss $ 177,318,141 $ 161,640,252 $ 149,508,629 $ 148,442,859 
At fair value through 

OCI 50,948,729 50,846,231 52,244,526 51,801,479 
Amortized cost 27,516,283 27,516,283 36,420,979 36,170,822 
 $ 255,783,153 $ 240,002,766 $ 238,174,134 $ 236,415,161 

 
The Group reclassified investments held in a Trust for the benefit of the Cayman Islands regulator from 
Amortized Cost to At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss. The change occurred as at September 30, 2019. 
Management having gained comfort in the experience and abilities of the managers of this portfolio decided 
to change the business model and grant the managers with the more freedom to manage the portfolio within 
the updated investment guidelines. The core of this change is to manage and improve the credit risk of the 
portfolio. The amounts reclassified out of Amortized Cost and into At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
and the unrealized gain upon reclassification as at September 30, 2019, are presented below: 

 Amortized Market Unrealized 
 Cost Value Cost 
    
Us Government bonds $ 4,584,896 $ 4,741,882 $ 156,986 
Non-US Government bonds 1,342,345 1,401,858 59,513 
Corporate bonds 8,575,110 8,948,549 373,439 
 $ 14,502,351 $ 15,092,289 $ 589,938 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

At Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 

FVOCI investments consist of the following fixed maturity securities: 

 2019 2018 
   
Bahamas Government Registered Stock $ 50,045,833 $ 48,895,575 
Bahamas Treasury Stock 902,896 3,348,951 
 $ 50,948,729 $ 52,244,526 

 
Included in the accounts receivable and accrued interest in the statement of financial position is accrued 
interest totaling $675,807 (2018 – $629,300) on financial assets at FVOCI. 

As at December 31, 2019, the Group had $3,000,000 (2018 – $3,000,000) of Bahamas Government 
Registered Stock with a maturity dates of 2026 and 2027 (2018 – 2026 and 2027) in trust by Butterfield 
Bank to meet requirements of the Insurance Act 2005 (Bahamas), and as such this amount is not available 
for general corporate use. 

Amortized Cost Investments 

Investments held at amortized cost include fixed maturity short-term deposits which are held for more than 
three months from the date of acquisition and have the following maturities and interest rates:  

 Interest Rates Interest Rates 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
     
Three months – one year 0.75% – 1.875% $ 4,532,720 0.5% – 2.5% $ 5,089,012 
 
The fair value of these investments at the statement of financial position date is $4,532,720 (2018 – 
$5,089,012). 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

Investments held at amortized cost also include fixed maturity debt instruments which mature as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
From one year through five years $ 10,655,991 $ 12,448,647 
From five years through ten years 12,327,572 18,883,320 
 $ 22,983,563 $ 31,331,967 

 
These investments are carried at amortized cost. The fair value of these investments at the statement of 
financial position date is $24,335,499 (2018 – $30,272,060).  

Financial Assets at amortized cost, include those assets held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

 2019 2018 
 Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost 
     
Managed funds $ 134,505,536 $ 117,663,841 $ 112,391,058 $ 111,210,047 
Common equity 

securities 261,264 1,888,080 486,879 1,819,329 
Non-US Govt bonds 717,174 711,623 – – 
US Government bonds 35,368,066 35,024,162 34,086,958 32,881,702 
Corporate bonds 6,466,101 6,352,546 2,543,734 2,531,781 
 $ 177,318,141 $ 161,640,252 $ 149,508,629 $ 148,442,859 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

The managed funds owned by the Group invest in a number of different types of investments which include: 
large cap, small cap and emerging market equity, US bonds, high yield bonds, and alternative investments 
which can include private equity. These investments are subject to the conditions and restrictions as further 
defined in the terms of the offering of each fund, which are usually contained in a formal offering 
memoranda. Such offering memoranda generally define the nature and types of investments in which a 
managed fund can invest and provide for specified procedures regarding further investment in and 
redemption from the particular fund. 

Whilst investment in managed funds can achieve investment diversification, these investments can also 
subject the Group to a concentration of risk in one company or investment strategy. Because the investment 
in managed funds can only be redeemed or transferred in accordance with the terms of the offering of the 
particular fund, generally weekly, monthly, or quarterly, the ability of the Group to realize such investments 
may be restricted. 

The investment portfolio is monitored by the Investment Committee and is subject to investment guidelines 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

The maturity profile of fixed maturity securities, comprising Corporate, Non-US Government and US 
Government debt categorized at fair value through profit or loss, at their carrying value as at the balance 
sheet date is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Due less than one year  $ 14,565,860 $ 20,920,895 
From one year to five years 22,995,068 12,942,646 
Over five years 4,990,413 2,767,151 
 $ 42,551,341 $ 36,630,692 

 
For all securities regardless of category, the Group’s largest concentrations in any one investee or related 
group of investees is 11.80% (2018 – 9.80%) of total investments in a Bermuda based fund investing in 
fixed income securities and 21.31% (2018 – 25.57%) of total investments in Bahamas Government 
Registered Stock. No other individual security represents more than 8.25% of total investments (2018 – 
7.61%). 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

Fair Value Measurement 

The Group categorizes its fair value measurements according to a three-level hierarchy. The hierarchy 
prioritizes the inputs used by the Group’s valuation techniques. A level is assigned to each fair value 
measurement based on the lowest level input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The 
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows: 

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical instruments. 

Level 2 – Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and 
liabilities in inactive markets, inputs that are observable that are not prices (such as interest rates, 
credit risks, etc.) and inputs that are derived from or corroborated by observable market data. Most 
debt securities are classified within Level 2. 

Level 3 – Model derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant value 
drivers are unobservable. These measurements include circumstances in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability. In making the assessment, the Group considers factors 
specific to the asset or liability and such an assessment will involve significant management 
judgment. Because of the inherent uncertainty in the valuation of these Level 3 investments, fair 
values of such investments may differ from the values that would have been used had a ready 
market for these investments existed, and the differences could be material. 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

The following table presents the Group’s fair value hierarchy for those assets or liabilities measured at fair 
value and for which fair values are disclosed as of December 31, 2019: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets measured at 

fair value     
Managed funds $ 4,638,934 $ 128,363,250 $ 1,503,352 $ 134,505,536 
US Government bonds 35,368,066 – – 35,368,066 
Non-US Govt bonds – 717,174 – 717,174 
Common equity securities 56,350 – 204,914 261,264 
Fixed Maturity Securities – 6,466,101 – 6,466,101 
Total $ 40,063,350 $ 135,546,525 $ 1,708,266 $ 177,318,141 
     
Financial assets at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive income 
“FVTOCI” $ – $ 50,948,729 $ – $ 50,948,729 

Segregated fund assets 
(Note 15) $ 17,995,628 $ 848,441,820 $ 1,050 $ 866,438,498 

     
Assets for which fair values 

are disclosed     
Financial assets at amortized 

cost $ – $ 28,868,219 $ – $ 28,868,219 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

The following table presents the Group’s fair value hierarchy for those assets or liabilities measured at fair 
value and for which fair values are disclosed as of December 31, 2018: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Assets or liabilities 

measured at fair value     
Managed funds $ 6,229,524 $ 94,760,505 $ 11,401,028 $ 112,391,057 
US Government bonds 34,086,959 – – 34,086,959 
Common equity securities 79,788 – 407,091 486,879 
Fixed Maturity Securities – 2,543,734 – 2,543,734 
Total $ 40,396,271 $ 97,304,239 $ 11,808,119 $ 149,508,629 
     
Financial assets measured at 

FVTOCI $ – $ 52,244,526 $ – $ 52,224,526 
Segregated fund assets 

(Note 15) $ 17,430,527 $ 748,297,211 $ 1,050 $ 765,728,788 
     
Assets for which fair values 

are disclosed     
measured at amortized cost $ 2,300,843 $ 33,060,230 $ – $ 35,361,073 
 
There were no reclassifications of investments between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year ended 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. There were reclassifications of investments between Level 3 
and Level 2 during the year ended December 31, 2019. 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

(a) Financial Assets in Level 1 

The fair value of investments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet 
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, 
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These investments are included in Level 1. Investments 
included in Level 1 comprise primarily domestic and foreign quoted equity shares and managed funds. 

(b) Financial Assets in Level 2 

The fair value of investments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is available 
and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. 

Specific valuation techniques include market standard valuation methodologies, which include discounted 
cash flow analysis, consensus pricing from various broker dealers that are typically the market makers, or 
other similar techniques. The assumptions and valuation inputs in applying these market standard valuation 
methodologies are determined primarily using observable market inputs, which include, but are not limited 
to, benchmark yields, reported trades of identical or similar instruments, broker-dealer quotes, issuer 
spreads, bid prices and reference data including market research publications. In limited circumstances, 
non-binding broker quotes are used. If all significant inputs required to fair value an investment are 
observable, the investment is included in Level 2. Investments included in Level 2 comprise primarily 
corporate debt securities and managed funds. 

Fair values of the Group’s interests in unquoted managed fund investments are based upon the Net Asset 
Values of the underlying investment funds as reported by the investment managers or their independent 
administrators. The Group’s ability to redeem its managed fund investments at the reported net asset value 
per share (or its equivalent) determines whether the managed fund investment is categorized within Level 2 
or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. If the managed fund can be redeemed within a time period of 3 
months with no gates or other redemption restrictions it is classified within Level 2. Otherwise the managed 
fund is classified within Level 3. 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

(c) Financial Assets in Level 3 

The following table provides a summary of the changes in fair value of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets 
(and liabilities) for the year ended December 31, 2019: 

 Managed 
Funds 

Common 
Equity  

Segregated 
Assets Total  

   
Beginning balance at 

January 1, 2019 $ 11,401,028 $ 407,091 $ 1,050 $ 11,809,169 
Movement in unrealized 

gains (losses) 528,044 (202,177) – 325,867 
Realized (losses)  (4,351) – – (4,351) 
Purchases and issuances 1,002,448 – – 1,002,448 
Impairment loss (306,581) – – (306,581) 
Transfers (11,117,236) – – (11,117,236) 

Ending balance at 
December 31, 2019 $ 1,503,352 $ 204,914 $ 1,050 $ 1,709,316 

     
Total gains (losses) for 

the year included in 
income on Level 3 
assets (recognized in 
investment income) $ 523,693 $ (202,177) $ – $ 321,516 
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

The following table provides a summary of the changes in fair value of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets 
for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

 Managed 
Funds 

Common 
Equity  

Segregated 
Assets Total  

   
Beginning balance at 

January 1, 2018 $ 11,344,698 $ 367,370 $ 1,050 $ 11,713,118 
Movement in 

unrealized gains 
(losses) 139,169 39,672 – 178,841 

Realized gains  13,277 – – 13,277 
Purchases and issuances 378,184 – – 378,184 
Sales (474,300) – – (474,300) 
Transfers – 49 – 49 

Ending balance at 
December 31, 2018 $ 11,401,028 $ 407,091 $ 1,050 $ 11,809,169 

     
Total gains for the year 

included in income on 
Level 3 assets 
(recognized in 
investment income) $ 152,446 $ 39,722 $ – $ 192,168 

 
A review of the fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on an ongoing basis. Changes in the 
observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification for certain financial assets and liabilities. 
Reclassifications impacting Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are reported as transfers in/out of the Level 3 
category as of the beginning of the period in which the reclassifications occur. As a result of this ongoing 
assessment, at the reporting date, there was a transfer of unquoted managed fund from Level 3 to Level 2 
in accordance with the Group’s policy cited above. 

The Level 3 financial assets of $1,709,316 (2018 – $11,809,169) are primarily composed of funds valued 
on a Net Asset Value (NAV) basis. The most significant input in the valuation is the NAV of the underlying 
fund. Generally, an increase in the NAV of each underlying fund will have an equal increase in the fair 
value of the financial assets.  
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4. Financial Assets (continued) 

Investment Income 

Investment income (loss) comprises the following: 

 2019 2018 
   
Dividend and interest income $ 5,878,434 $ 5,276,503 
Realized gains on sale of investments 7,606,950 1,336,272 
Loss in value of investment in associate (Note 20) (267,533) – 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments 7,720,251 (6,492,270) 
Bond accretion (amortization) 179,061 166,772 
Management fees (1,055,340) (1,002,814) 
Net foreign exchange gain 75,257 100,928 
 $ 20,137,080 $ (614,609) 

 
5.  Insurance Balances Receivable 

Included in insurance balances receivable are policyholder loans of $1,692,919 (2018 – $1,587,557). 
Insurance balances receivable are presented net of a provision for doubtful accounts of $2,643,349 (2018 – 
$2,637,080). 

6. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves 

Outstanding losses and loss expenses are reported gross of reinsurance ceded and the ceded liabilities are 
reported separately as a reinsurance asset. Outstanding losses and loss expenses include reserves for 
reported unpaid losses and losses and loss expense incurred but not reported. 

The outstanding claims provision comprises non-life business: 

 2019 2018 
   
Property and casualty $ 57,282,386 $ 39,570,396 
Medical, dental and vision 22,061,419 24,057,683 
Long term disability 4,561,257 4,578,321 
 $ 83,905,062 $ 68,206,400 
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6. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves (continued) 

Movements in non-life insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets are as follows: 

 2019 2018 
 Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net 
Loss reserves 
Notified claims $ 40,949,224 $ 28,063,574 $ 12,885,650 $ 104,993,463 $ 76,216,928 $ 28,776,535
Incurred but not 
reported 27,257,176 2,646,571 24,610,605 26,265,722 1,399,361 24,866,361
Total at 
beginning of year 68,206,400 30,710,145 37,496,255 131,259,185 77,616,289 53,642,896
 
Movements 

during the 
year 

Claims incurred 
– current year 308,374,031 74,186,954 234,187,077 242,971,833 13,393,650 229,578,183

Claims incurred 
– prior year (3,241,794) (5,810,898) 2,569,101 (6,767,338) (55,229) (6,712,109)

Total claims 
incurred 305,132,237 68,376,056 236,756,178 236,204,495 13,338,421 222,866,074
 

Claims settled in 
the year (289,433,572) (65,225,131) (224,208,441) 299,257,280 (60,244,565) (239,012,715)
 
Total at end of 
year 83,905,062 33,861,070 50,043,992 68,206,400 30,710,145 37,496,255
 
Notified claims  59,286,734 33,367,461 25,919,273 40,949,224 28,063,574 12,885,650
Incurred but not 
reported 24,618,328 493,609 24,124,719 27,257,176 2,646,571 24,610,605
Total at end of 
year $ 83,905,062 $ 33,861,461 $ 50,043,992 $ 68,206,400 $ 30,710,145 $ 37,496,255
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6. Outstanding Loss and Loss Expense Reserves (continued) 

The development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. The top half of the table below 
illustrates how the Group’s estimate of net retained total claims outstanding for each accident year has changed at successive year ends. The bottom half of 
the table reconciles the cumulative claims to the amount included within property and casualty reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The insurance liabilities for property claims have been excluded from the table below as such claim payments are typically resolved quickly and, accordingly, 
have a relatively insignificant IBNR reserve. 

Reporting year/period ended: Jan 1, 2011 Dec 31, 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 

Estimate of ultimate claims costs:            
At end of reporting year/period 12,840,913 11,488,935 11,041,449 10,926,852 10,958,859 11,415,223 13,026,345 12,073,792 13,292,088 13,677,965 $ – 
One year later 13,913,828 12,278,834 12,260,690 11,919,313 12,308,144 12,255,016 14,456,073 12,841,227 14,673,500 – – 
Two years later 14,281,385 12,766,879 12,247,669 11,826,173 12,885,663 12,411,028 14,343,755 12,984,403 – – – 
Three years later 14,661,674 12,937,613 12,359,880 11,776,879 13,645,750 12,636,549 14,397,254 – – – – 
Four years later 14,657,140 12,970,263 12,331,153 11,957,557 13,553,436 12,909,313 – – – – – 
Five years later 14,706,471 12,732,374 12,212,217 12,014,715 13,708,586 – – – – – – 
Six years later 14,802,041 12,749,440 12,131,830 11,990,025 – – – – – – – 
Seven years later 14,899,987 12,727,491 12,114,369 – – – – – – – – 
Eight years later 14,889,326 12,716,752 – – – – – – – – – 
Nine years later 14,884,478 – – – – – – – – – – 
Ten years later – – – – – – – – – – – 

Current estimate of cumulative claims 14,884,478 12,716,752 12,114,369 11,990,025 13,708,586 12,909,313 14,397,254 12,984,403 14,673,500 13,677,965 134,056,544 
Cumulative payments to date 14,716,436 12,573,953 12,095,738 11,985,025 13,226,056 12,267,951 13,394,351 12,410,796 12,475,067 9,589,744 124,735,118 
Liability recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 168,042 142,799 18,631 5,000 482,530 641,362 1,002,903 573,507 2,198,433 4,088,221 9,321,426 

Net Reserve, prior years           10,922 
Add: applicable reinsurance           7,240,882 

Total casualty loss reserves at December 31, 2019          $ 16,573,231 

 



Colonial Group International Ltd.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 

  
 52

7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable 

Composition of the provision for future policy benefits and policyholder benefits payable is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
Participating:   

Individual life $ 6,965,511 $ 7,134,411 
Non-participating:   

Individual and group life (1,277,087) (2,337,244) 
Universal life (11,395,663) (10,888,343) 
Annuities 3,584,553 3,274,092 

Total provision for future policy benefits (2,122,686) (2,817,084) 
Add: Policyholder benefits payable 4,200,289 3,609,189 
 $ 2,077,603 $ 792,105 

 
Policyholder Benefits Payable 

Policyholder benefits payable is comprised of policyholder dividends on deposit and other insurance 
benefits payable on reported claims and surrenders. 

Dividends on deposit represent provision for the policyholders’ share of earnings on participating business. 
The Group suspended dividends with effect from January 1, 2009, due to the significant fall in the equity 
markets during 2008. 

As of December 31, 2019, dividends on deposit of $2,007,791 (2018 – $2,195,953) and accrued deposit 
interest of $532,160 (2018 – $523,587) are included in policyholder benefits payable. For the year ended 
December 31, 2019, interest on dividends on deposit of $70,562 (2018 – $62,490) is included in 
policyholder benefits paid in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

Provision for Future Policy Benefits 

Changes in provision for future policy benefits during the year are as follows: 

 2019 2018 
 Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net 
   
Provision for future 

policy benefits, 
beginning of year $ (2,817,084) $ 7,918,418 $ 5,101,334 $ (2,494,408) $ 7,065,206 $ 4,570,798

Change in reserves for 
existing business on 
non-investment plans 
and impact of 
(increase) decrease in 
net asset value of 
segregated funds  379,572 (261,689) 117,883 2,241,248 (327,557) 1,913,691

Change in assumptions 
or methodology 1,602,820 (357,563) 1,245,257 (1,579,112) 939,406 (639,706)

Reserve for new 
business (1,287,994) 336,579 (951,415) (984,812) 241,363 (743,449)

Increase (decrease) in 
actuarial liabilities 694,398 (282,673) 411,725 (322,676) 853,212 530,536

Provision for future 
policy benefits, end 
of year $ (2,122,686) $ 7,635,745 $ 5,513,059 $ (2,817,084) $ 7,918,418 $ 5,101,334

 
The Group estimates the present value of future policy benefits related to long duration contracts using 
assumptions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse deviation. 
The Group’s appointed actuary is responsible for determining the amount of life and annuity policy reserve 
in accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries. Insurance contract 
liabilities, net of reinsurance assets, have been determined using CALM as permitted by IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts. 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

Certain life insurance and annuity contracts provide the holder with a guarantee that the benefit received 
upon death will be no less than a minimum prescribed amount. The contracts are accounted for in 
accordance with the authoritative guidance on Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for 
Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts, which requires that the best estimate of future 
experience be combined with actual experience to determine the benefit ratio used to calculate the policy 
benefit reserve. 

The Group examines the assumptions used in determining the provision for future policy benefits and 
policyholder benefits payable on an ongoing basis to ensure they appropriately reflect emerging experience 
and changes in risk profile. 

The Group uses best estimate assumptions for expected future experience. Some assumptions relate to 
events that are anticipated to occur many years in the future and are likely to require subsequent revision. 
Additional provisions are included in provision for future policy benefits to provide for possible adverse 
deviations from management’s best estimates. If the assumption is more susceptible to change or if there is 
uncertainty about the underlying best estimate assumption, a correspondingly larger provision is included 
in provision for future policy benefits. 

With the passage of time and resulting reduction in estimation risk, excess provisions are released into 
income. In recognition of the long-term nature of provision for future policy benefits, the margin for 
possible deviations generally increases for contingencies further in the future. The best estimate 
assumptions and margins for adverse deviations are reviewed annually, and revisions are made as deemed 
necessary and prudent. 

Assumptions and Sensitivities 

Mortality 

Mortality refers to the rates at which death occurs for defined groups of people. Insurance mortality 
assumptions are based on industry experience and mortality tables, since the Group’s own experience is 
insufficient to be statistically credible. In general, assumed mortality rates for life insurance contracts do 
not reflect any future expected improvement. 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

For life insurance products not involving segregated funds, a higher mortality would have an adverse effect 
on the Group’s results of operations. For those products, a 10% increase in the best estimate assumption 
would decrease net income and shareholder’s equity by approximately $652,090 (2018 – $681,221). For 
life insurance products involving segregated funds, the reserve equals the segregated fund balance, and 
therefore a higher mortality assumption would have no immediate impact on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

For immediate payout annuities, a permanent 10% decrease in mortality would require a decrease of income 
and a reserve increase of $94,362 (2018 – $85,565). 

Investment Return and Interest Rate 

Assets are segmented to correspond to the different liability categories of the Group. For each segment, the 
projected current assets and liability cash flows are used in the actuarial valuation under several interest 
rate scenarios to determine the actuarial liabilities. Asset cash flows are reduced to provide for asset default 
losses. 

Interest rate risk associated with this assumption is measured by determining the effect on the present value 
of the projected net asset and liability cash flows of the Group of an immediate 1% increase or an immediate 
1% decrease in the level of interest rates. These interest rate changes will impact the projected cash flows. 

The effect of an immediate 1% increase in interest rates would be to decrease the present value of these net 
projected cash flows by approximately $4,105,205 (2018 – $2,972,003). The effect of an immediate 1% 
decrease in interest rates would be to increase the present value of these net projected cash flows by 
approximately $6,157,363 (2018 – $4,470,126). 

The level of actuarial liabilities established under the valuation methodology provides for interest rate 
movements other than the 1% movements indicated above. 

The effect of an immediate 1% increase in discount rates on immediate annuities would be to decrease 
reserves by $262,136 (2018 – $233,297) and the effect of an immediate 1% decrease in discount rates on 
immediate annuities would be to increase reserves by $301,257 (2018 – $266,979). 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

Policy Termination Rates (Lapse Rates) 

Policyholders may allow their policies to terminate prior to the end of the contractual coverage period by 
choosing not to continue paying premiums or by exercising one of the non-forfeiture options in the contract. 
Assumptions for termination experience on life insurance are based on industry experience. Termination 
rates may vary by product/plan, age at issue, method of premium payment and policy duration. For universal 
life policies it is also necessary to set assumptions about premium cessation occurring prior to termination 
of the policy. A 10% adverse change in the best estimate of policy termination would decrease net income 
by $1,075,404 (2018 – $876,798). 

Operating Expenses and Inflation 

Policy liabilities include an estimate for future policy-related expenses. These include the costs of premium 
collection, claims adjudication and processing, actuarial calculations, preparation and mailing of policy 
statements and related indirect expenses and overheads. Expense assumptions are mainly based on recent 
Group experience using an internal expense allocation methodology. Future expense assumptions reflect 
inflation. The sensitivity of actuarial liabilities to a 10% decrease in unit expenses Group-wide would result 
in a decrease in net income of $1,436,419 (2018 – $1,401,948). 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

The composition of the assets supporting the positive liabilities of provision for future policy benefits as of 
December 31, 2019 is as follows: 

 

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

Financial 
Assets 

Insurance and 
Reinsurance 

Balances 
Receivables 

Amounts Due 
From Related 

Companies Total 
      
Participating:      

Individual life $ 1,785,594 $ 5,179,917 $ – $ – $ 6,965,511 
Non-participating:      

Individual and group 
life – – – – – 

Universal life – – – – – 
Annuities – 3,584,553 – – 3,584,553 

Provision for future 
policy benefits 1,785,594 8,764,470 – – 10,550,064 

Policy benefits payable – 4,200,289 – – 4,200,289 
Positive provision for 

future policy benefits $ 1,785,594 $ 12,964,759 $ – $ – $ 14,750,353 
Negative provision for 

future policy benefits 
 

   (12,672,750) 
     $ 2,077,603 
 
  



 Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 

  
 58

7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

The composition of the assets supporting the positive liabilities of provision for future policy benefits as of 
December 31, 2018 is as follows: 

 

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

Financial 
Assets 

Insurance and 
Reinsurance 

Balances 
Receivables 

Amounts Due 
From Related 

Companies Total 
      
Participating:      

Individual life $ 1,884,856 $ 5,249,555 $ – $ – $ 7,134,411 
Non-participating:      

Individual and group 
life – – – – – 

Universal life – – – – – 
Annuities – 3,274,092 – – 3,274,092 

Provision for future 
policy benefits 1,884,856 8,523,647 – – 10,408,503 

Policy benefits payable – 3,609,189 – – 3,609,189 
Positive provision for 

future policy benefits $ 1,884,856 $ 12,132,836 $ – $ – $ 14,017,692 
Negative provision for 

future policy benefits 
 

   (13,225,587) 
     $ 792,105 
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7. Provision for Future Policy Benefits and Policyholder Benefits Payable (continued) 

Deferred Acquisition Costs 

The following reflects the amounts of acquisition costs on Life products deferred and amortized as of and 
for the year ended: 

 2019 2018 
   
Deferred acquisition costs, beginning of year $ 729,473 $ 844,707 

Expenses capitalized 164,081 129,635 
Amortization expense (235,894) (244,869) 

Deferred acquisition costs, end of year $ 657,660 $ 729,473 
 
The amortization expense is combined with commission expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income. 

8. Funds Held on Behalf of Clients 

Funds held on behalf of clients include funds held under a self-insurance program administered by AMIL 
in the amount of $Nil (2018 – $1,677,572). AMIL collect premiums and pay claims on behalf of the self-
insurance programs, but do not assume any insurance risk. AMIL receives administrative fees for services 
provided, and records amounts received, net of amounts reimbursed for loss payments, as funds held on 
behalf of clients. In addition, AMIL and CLACL held cash of $1,464,226 (2018 – $1,150,216) and $80,491 
(2018 – $107,375) respectively representing client premiums paid in advance. 

CPSL and CPTL held cash of $402,448 (2018 – $623,106) and $550,408 (2018 – $763,840), respectively, 
on behalf of clients and unallocated contributions. Cash held on behalf of clients represents a net amount 
owed to clients for cash held by the Group for funds in transit between unitholders and the segregated funds. 
Cash held on behalf of clients consists of contributions and redemptions payable, less contributions and 
redemptions receivable. 
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9. Goodwill 

Goodwill has been allocated to one cash-generating unit BCHL and represents the excess cost over 
identifiable net assets acquired. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to BCHL is shown below: 

 BCHL 
  
2019 $ 6,518,300 
2018 $ 6,518,300 

 
When testing for impairment, the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use 
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period. A Group-specific risk-adjusted discount rate of 5% (2018 – 5%) 
is used. The projected cash flows are determined by budgets based on past performances and management 
expectations for market developments. 

With regard to the assessment of value in use for the cash-generating units, management recognizes the 
significant challenges in the property & casualty sector. Following hurricanes IRMA and Maria in 2017 
and Dorian in 2019, premium rates across the Caribbean have hardened. Management have moderated their 
expectation for the property casualty sector and continue to see opportunity in the Cayman Islands market. 

The medical portfolio in the Cayman Islands has experienced increases in utilization at the same time as 
significant increases in costs were noted. After two to three challenging years trends started to return to 
normalized patterns in 2019. 

Management believes the impact of the pandemic (Note 22) on the economy of Cayman Islands, while 
severe in the short term, will not have a lasting effect on either the Island’s economy or the profitability of 
the CGU. 

Cyclical trends are to be expected in the insurance industry and Management remains confident that the 
carrying value of the goodwill is supported by the value of the CGU. 

Impairment losses of $Nil have been recognized in 2019 (2018 – $Nil), as a result of the impairment reviews 
for the cash-generating unit. 
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2019, comprise the following: 

 2018 Additions Disposals 2019 
Cost     
Land $ 1,802,814 $ 1,568 $ – $ 1,804,382 
Property 8,633,321 209,377 – 8,842,698 
Leasehold improvements 13,269,014 75,035 (746,436) 12,597,613 
Right of use assets – 28,792,406 (24,244) 28,768,162 
Computer hardware 10,642,133 840,835 (133,070) 11,349,899 
Furniture and office equipment 8,879,979 94,252 (1,473) 8,972,757 
Motor vehicles 334,760 10,000 – 344,760 
 $ 43,562,021 $ 30,023,473 $ (905,223) $ 72,680,271 
     
  Depreciation Reallocation/  
 2018 Expense Disposals 2019 
Accumulated depreciation     
Land  $ – $ – $ – $ – 
Property 3,266,274 172,666 – 3,438,940 
Leasehold improvements 10,084,308 891,128 (746,436) 10,229,000 
Right of use assets – 2,617,513 (9,487) 2,608,026 
Computer hardware 8,359,979 955,135 (133,070) 9,182,044 
Furniture and office equipment 7,420,128 343,868 (1,473) 7,762,523 
Motor vehicles 173,641 54,503 – 228,144 
 $ 29,304,330 $ 5,034,813 $ (890,467) $ 33,448,677 
     
Net book value $ 14,257,691   $ 39,231,594 
 
The additions to right of use assets include $1,160,677 being the purchase of two leasehold condominiums 
acquired to accommodation staff locating on a temporary basis to Bermuda. These leaseholds were 
purchased outright and not subject to lease financing arrangements. 
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2018, comprise the following: 

 2017 Additions Disposals 2018 
Cost     
Land $ 1,802,814 $ – $ – $ 1,802,814 
Property 8,633,321 – – 8,633,321 
Leasehold improvements 13,434,481 57,493 (222,960) 13,269,014 
Computer hardware 10,485,027 874,234 (717,128) 10,642,133 
Furniture and office equipment 8,670,767 213,875 (4,663) 8,879,979 
Motor vehicles 317,085 51,675 (34,000) 334,760 
 $ 43,343,495 $ 1,197,277 $ (978,751) $ 43,562,021 
     
  Depreciation Reallocation/  
 2017 Expense Disposals 2018 
Accumulated depreciation     
Land  $ – $ – $ – $ – 
Property 3,093,607 172,667 – 3,266,274 
Leasehold improvements 9,241,607 1,065,661 (222,960) 10,084,308 
Computer hardware 8,121,546 955,561 (717,128) 8,359,979 
Furniture and office equipment 7,036,280 388,511 (4,663) 7,420,128 
Motor vehicles 133,060 58,664 (18,083) 173,641 
 $ 27,626,100 $ 2,641,064 $ (962,834) $ 29,304,330 
     
Net book value $ 15,717,395   $ 14,257,691 
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11. Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets as at December 31, 2019, are detailed below: 

 2018 Additions Disposals 2019 
Cost     
Computer software $ 11,765,993 $ 863,158 $ (93,355) $ 12,535,796 
Portfolio acquisition cost 2,688,274 – (40,448) 2,647,826 
 $ 14,454,267 $ 863,158 $ (133,803) $ 15,183,622 
     
  Amortization   
 2018 Expense Disposals 2019 
Accumulated depreciation     
Computer software $ 8,277,336 $ 1,537,828 $ (93,355) $ 9,721,809 
Portfolio acquisition cost 1,307,634 264,783 (40,448) 1,531,969 
 $ 9,584,970 $ 1,802,617 $ (133,803) $ 11,253,784 
     
Net book value $ 4,869,297   $ 3,929,844 
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11. Intangible Assets (continued) 

Intangible assets as at December 31, 2018, are detailed below: 

 2017 Additions Disposals 2018 
Cost     
Computer software $ 10,963,843 $ 1,055,774 $ (253,624) $ 11,765,993 
Portfolio acquisition cost 2,688,274 – – 2,688,274 
 $ 13,652,117 $ 1,055,774 $ (253,624) $ 14,454,267 
     
  Amortization   
 2017 Expense Disposals 2018 
Accumulated depreciation     
Computer software $ 7,229,855 $ 1,301,105 $ (253,624) $ 8,277,336 
Portfolio acquisition cost 1,034,763 272,871 – 1,307,634 
 $ 8,264,618 $ 1,573,976 $ (253,624) $ 9,584,970 
     
Net book value $ 5,387,499   $ 4,869,297 
 
Due to a change in circumstances affecting a portfolio that had previously been classified as an Indefinite 
Life Intangible Asset, management determined that commencing January 1, 2015, the portfolio should be 
reclassified to Finite Life Intangible Assets. At the time of reclassification, management assessed the 
portfolio for impairment and concluded that the present value of the expected future cash flows arising from 
the portfolio exceeded the carrying value of the portfolio. 

From January 1, 2015, management commenced amortizing the portfolio over a 10 year expected life and 
undertook to assess the carrying value for signs of impairment on an annual basis. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments 

The activities of the Group involve the use of insurance contracts and financial instruments. As such, the 
Group is exposed to insurance risks and financial risks. This note presents information about the Group’s 
exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk 
and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Board has established an Investment Committee, Risk Oversight Committee 
and Audit Committee, which along with the President of the Group are responsible for developing and 
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The committees and President report regularly to the 
Board of Directors on their activities. 

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The 
Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Audit Committee and Risk Oversight Committee of the Group are standing committees of the Board 
of Directors and assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the financial reporting 
process, internal accounting and financial controls, audit and risk review process, risk assessment and risk 
management and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee, Risk Oversight 
Committee and Investment Management Committee meet at least three times per annum and report to the 
Board of Directors on their performance with respect to their respective terms of reference. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The principles used by the Group in managing its insurance risks are set out below. 

Insurance Risk 

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty 
of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and 
therefore unpredictable. 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, 
the principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims payments exceed 
the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims 
is greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims will 
vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques. 

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, 
geographical location and type of industry covered. The Group insures the risks of individuals located in 
Bermuda, British Virgin Islands, Barbados, Bahamas, the Cayman Islands, and Turks and Caicos Islands 
and internationally, therefore there is a diversification of geographic risk. There is a concentration of 
industry risk which is managed through its underwriting strategy and reinsurance arrangements. The Group 
actively manages and pursues early settlements of claims to reduce its exposure to unpredictable 
developments. 

The Group predominantly funds its net insurance liabilities (net of reinsurance recoveries) through its cash 
and in the normal course of its operations. In the event of a catastrophe, the net insurance liabilities may 
require to be funded through the disposal of the Group’s portfolio of investments. 

The mean duration of liabilities is calculated using historical claims data to determine the expected 
settlement pattern for claims arising from insurance contracts in force at the consolidated statement of 
financial position date (both incurred claims and future claims arising from the unexpired risks at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date).  
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The mean durations are: 

 2019 2018 
   
Net short-term insurance liabilities – medical 2 months 2 months 
Net short-term insurance liabilities – property risk 3 months to 18 months 3 months to 1 year 
Net short-term insurance liabilities – casualty risk 2–3 years 3 months to 2–3 years 
 
General Insurance 

The Group provides property, casualty and health insurance coverage in Bermuda, Cayman, the Bahamas, 
the British Virgin Islands and the Turks & Caicos Islands for motor vehicle, motor cycle, property, marine, 
general liability, medical, dental, vision, long term disability, short term disability, group life and accidental 
death and dismemberment risks.  

The Group provides property and casualty coverage with the following per risk treaty limits: 

 Treaty Limit Per Risk (BDA$) 

 Bermuda Bahamas Cayman BVI 
Property 13.0m 10m 7.3m 2.5m 
Motor liability 5.0m 2.5m 12.2m 1.0m 
General liability 5.0m 5.0m 6.0m 5.0m 
Marine hull liability 0.5m 0.5m 0.5m 0.5m 

 
Group provides health coverage with the following maximum limits: 

 Maximum 
Coverage Limit 

  
Medical $ 5,000,000 
Group life $ 2,000,000 
Accidental death and dismemberment $ 2,000,000 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The Group also offers international health insurance coverage for medical, dental, life, long term disability 
and accidental death and dismemberment risks for individuals and groups working outside their home 
country. The maximum annual coverage limit is $2,000,000 per insured. 

Insurance contract risk is the risk that a loss arises from the following reasons: 

• fluctuation in the timing, frequency and severity of claims relative to expectations; 

• inadequate reinsurance protection; and 

• large unexpected losses arising from a single event such as a catastrophe. 

Insured events can occur at any time during the coverage period and can generate losses of variable 
amounts. An objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient claims liabilities are established to cover 
future insurance claim payments related to past insured events. The Group’s success depends upon its 
ability to accurately assess the risk associated with the insurance contracts underwritten by the Group. The 
group establishes claims liabilities to cover the estimated liability for the payment of all losses, including 
loss adjustment expenses incurred with respect to insurance contracts underwritten by the group. Claims 
liabilities do not represent an exact calculation of the liability. Rather, claims liabilities are the Group’s best 
estimates of its expected ultimate cost of resolution and administration of claims. 

The composition of the Group’s insurance risk, as well as the methods employed to mitigate risks, are 
described below. 

Risk Related to the Timing, Frequency and Severity of Claims 

The occurrence of claims being unforeseeable, the Group is exposed to the risk that the number and the 
severity of claims would exceed the estimates. 

Strict claim review policies are in place to assess all new and ongoing claims. Regular detailed reviews of 
claims handling procedures and frequent investigations of possible fraudulent claims reduce the Group’s 
risk exposure. Further, the Group enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in 
order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that could negatively impact the business. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Reinsurance Protection 

In the normal course of business, the Group limits the amount of loss on any one policy by reinsuring certain 
levels of risk with other insurers. Reinsurance ceded does not discharge the Group’s liability as the primary 
insurer. In the event that the reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations under the reinsurance 
agreements, the Group would also be liable for the reinsured amount. 

The Group reinsures its property risks under property surplus and quota share treaties specific to each 
jurisdiction. For larger individual property risks the Group provides coverage by way of prearranged 
facilities and facultative reinsurance. The Group also purchases property catastrophe reinsurance for each 
jurisdiction in excess of $5,000,000 (2018 – $5,000,000) up to a maximum recovery of $130,000,000 (2018 
– $120,000,000). 

The Group’s motor and general liability exposure is limited to $500,000 per claim through the purchase of 
excess of loss reinsurance which covers the maximum limits insured on any one risk in all jurisdictions. 

The Group purchases an excess of loss reinsurance treaty which specifically limits marine losses to 
$125,000 per risk and per occurrence. 

For Medical risks the Group follows the policy of underwriting and reinsuring all contracts of insurance, 
which limit the retained liability of the Group to a maximum amount of $350,000 on any one individual 
medical loss per year. 

For group life, the Group purchases reinsurance for 80% of the first $250,000 per life under a quota share 
agreement. Group life and accidental death and dismemberment coverage in excess of $250,000 is fully 
reinsured on a quota share basis. For long term disability, the Group purchases reinsurance for 90% of the 
associated risk. Short term disability is reinsured for 60% of the Group’s gross liability to a maximum gross 
weekly benefit of $3,500 per person. 

The international health insurance coverage for medical, dental, life, long term disability and accidental 
death and dismemberment risks is reinsured at the same limits mentioned above. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Catastrophe Risk 

Catastrophe risk is the risk of occurrence of a large number of claims arising from a single event such as an 
earthquake, hurricane or tsunami. Catastrophes can have a significant impact on the underwriting income 
of an insurer. 

The Group has limited its exposure to catastrophe risk by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain 
contracts, as well as by using reinsurance arrangements. The Group buys a combination of proportional and 
non-proportional reinsurance to manage catastrophe exposure. Retentions and limits for ceded reinsurance 
vary by product line and jurisdiction. The Group purchased catastrophic excess of loss life reinsurance for 
losses in excess of $250,000 per occurrence limited to $5,000,000 each occurrence. This reinsurance 
provides cover for the loss of six lives or more that are involved in any one loss. 

Exposure to Insurance Risk 

The principal assumption underlying the unpaid claim estimates is that the Group’s future claims 
development will follow a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes 
assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim inflation factors and claim 
numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgements are used to assess the extent to which 
past trends may not apply in the future, for example: one-off occurrence: changes in market factors such as 
public attitude to claiming: economic conditions: as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy 
conditions and claims handling procedures. 

Judgment is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and 
government legislation affect the estimates. Additionally, in 2019 the Group was hit by Hurricane Dorian 
in the Bahamas, in 2017 by Hurricane Irma in BVI and TCI and in 2016 by Hurricane Matthew in Bahamas 
and Hurricane Nicole in Bermuda. Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include 
variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and changes in foreign currency rates. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions in the table below. It has not 
been possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or uncertainty 
in the estimation process. The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key 
assumptions with all other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit 
before tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the 
ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had 
to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-
linear. 

The claims liabilities’ sensitivity to certain of these key assumptions is outlined below for P&C entities and 
for the medical business under CMI and AMI, as there are various ratios of sensitivity used for this analysis. 
It is not possible to quantify the sensitivity to certain assumptions such as legislative changes or uncertainty 
in the estimation process. The analysis is performed for possible movements in the assumptions with all 
other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on net income. Movements in these assumptions may 
be non-linear and may be correlated with one another. 

Sensitivity Factor Description of Sensitivity Factor Applied 
  
Average number of claims (frequency) The impact of a change in number of claims by 10% 
Average claim costs (severity) The impact of a change in average claim cost by 10% 

 
 Number of 

Claims +10% 
Number of 

Claims -10% 
Claim Costs 

+10% 
Claim Costs 

-10% 
 Increase (Decrease) ($000) 
P&C entities  
At December 31, 2019     
Impact on profit* $ (2,371) $ 2,371 $ (2,371) $ 2,371 
Impact on shareholder’s equity* $ (2,371) $ 2,371 $ (2,371) $ 2,371 
Net of reinsurance     
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

 Frequency of 
Claims +14% 

Frequency of 
Claims –14% 

Severity of 
Claims +10% 

Severity of 
Claims -10% 

Colonial Medical Insurance Increase/(Decrease) ($000) 
At December 31, 2019     
Impact on profit $ (1,150) $ 1,006 $ (1,175) $ 1,085 
Impact on shareholder’s equity $ (1,150) $ 1,006 $ (1,175) $ 1,085 

 

 
Frequency of 
Claims +18% 

Frequency of 
Claims -18% 

Severity of 
Claims +12% 

Severity of 
Claims -12% 

Atlantic Medical Insurance Increase (Decrease) ($000) 
At December 31, 2019     
Impact on profit $ (998) $ 874 $ (1,020) $ 942 
Impact on shareholder’s equity $ (998) $ 874 $ (1,020) $ 942 

 
Long Term Insurance 

The Group provides life insurance and accidental death benefits coverage as well as investment and savings 
products in Bermuda, Cayman, British Virgin Islands and internationally. Life insurance contracts offered 
by the Group include: whole life, term assurance, single premium immediate annuity and variable life. 

Whole life and term assurance are conventional regular premium products when lump sum benefits are 
payable on death. 

All life insurance policies include the option to purchase contribution protection benefits that provide for 
payment of contributions on behalf of policyholders in periods of total disability. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The main risks that the Group is exposed to are as follows: 

– Mortality risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than 
expected 

– Longevity risk – risk of loss arising due to the annuitant living longer than expected 

– Investment return risk – risk of loss arising from actual returns being different than expected 

– Expense risk – risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected 

– Policyholder decision risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder experiences (lapses and 
surrenders) being different than expected 

These risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk 
insured or by industry. 

Please refer to Note 7 for the concentration of life insurance and investment contract liabilities by type of 
contract. 

Mortality Risk 

Mortality risk is the risk that future experience could be worse than the assumptions used in the pricing and 
valuation of products. Mortality risk can arise in the normal course of business through random fluctuation 
in realized experience, through catastrophes, or in association with other risk factors such as product 
development and pricing or model risk. 

The Group maintains underwriting standards to determine the insurability of applicants. Claim trends are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Exposure to large claims is managed by establishing policy retention limits, 
which vary by market and geographic location. Policies in excess of the limits are reinsured with other 
companies. The impact of a 10% change in the mortality assumption is disclosed in Note 7. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Longevity Risk 

Longevity risk is the potential for economic loss, accounting loss or volatility in earnings arising from 
uncertain adverse changes in rates of mortality improvement relative to the assumptions used in the pricing 
and valuation of products. This risk can manifest itself slowly over time as socioeconomic conditions 
improve and medical advances continue. It could also manifest itself more quickly, for example, due to 
medical breakthroughs that significantly extend life expectancy. Longevity risk affects contracts where 
benefits are based upon the likelihood of survival (for example, annuities, pensions and pure endowments). 
The impact of a 10% change in the mortality assumption is disclosed in Note 7. 

Investment Return Rate 

The Group’s policy of closely matching asset cash flows with those of the corresponding liabilities is 
designed to mitigate the Group’s exposure to future changes in interest rates. The interest rate risk positions 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Under CALM, the reinvestment rate is developed using interest rate 
scenario testing and reflects the interest rate risk positions. 

Equities, bonds and other long-duration assets are used to support liabilities where investment return 
experience is passed back to policyholders through dividends or credited investment return adjustments. 
Equities, bonds and other long-duration assets are also used to support long-dated obligations in the Group’s 
annuity and pension businesses and for long-dated insurance obligations on contracts where the investment 
return risk is borne by the Group. 

The impact of a 1% change in the investment return rate assumption is disclosed in Note 7. 

Expense Risk 

Expense risk is the risk that future expenses are higher than the assumptions used in the pricing and 
valuation of products. This risk can arise from general economic conditions, unexpected increases in 
inflation, slower than anticipated growth or reduction in productivity leading to increase in unit expenses. 
Expense risk occurs in products where the Group cannot or will not pass increased costs onto the customer 
and will manifest itself in the form of a liability increase or a reduction in expected future profits. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

The Group closely monitors expenses through an annual budgeting process and ongoing monitoring of any 
expense gaps between unit expenses assumed in pricing and actual expenses. The impact of a 10% change 
in the unit expenses assumption is disclosed in Note 7. 

Policyholder Decision Risk 

Policies are terminated through lapses and surrenders, where lapses represent the termination of policies 
due to nonpayment of premiums and surrenders represent the voluntary termination of policies by 
policyholders. Premium persistency represents the level of ongoing deposits on contracts where there is 
policyholder discretion as to the amount and timing of deposits. 

The Group seeks to design products that minimize financial exposure to lapse, surrender and other 
policyholder decision risk. The Group monitors lapse, surrender and other policyholder decision 
experience. The impact of a 10% change in the policy termination rates assumption is disclosed in Note 7. 

Long Term Reinsurance Protection 

– Life Risks 

Reinsurance agreements are in place for individual life business. The Group does not assure any individual 
life risks in excess of the reinsurers’ limits. The individual life business is reinsured on claims in excess of 
$100,000 domestically and $100,000 internationally with the reinsurers’ limit being $3,000,000. However 
the Group’s reinsurer has made exceptions on individual considerations and has accepted higher limits. 

– Accidental Death Benefit 

The reinsurer can participate in risks up to $1,000,000 of accidental death benefit (ADB) per life with all 
carriers. The Group does not assure any individual ADB risks in excess of the reinsurer’s limits. The Group 
does not retain any exposure to ADB risks. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Financial Risk 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk 

• liquidity risk 

• market risk 

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the balance sheet date and the risk 
management policies of the Group are discussed below: 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter-party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or 
commitment that it has entered into with the Group. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure is the 
carrying value of assets less any provisions for irrecoverable amounts. The Group is exposed to credit risk 
in the following areas: 

Cash and Investments 

Investment asset allocation is determined by the Group’s investment manager who manages the distribution 
of the assets to achieve the Group’s investment objectives. Divergence from target asset allocations and the 
composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Group’s Board of Directors and Investment Committee. 
Details of concentrations of cash and cash equivalents and investments are disclosed in Notes 3 and 4. 

Insurance Balances Receivable 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the financial stability of entities and individuals that 
purchase insurance products. This credit risk is controlled by monitoring the aging of all amounts 
outstanding on an ongoing basis and monitoring the customers’ financial health by reference to the media 
and discussions with the customers. A provision is made for non-recovery if considered necessary. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Collateral is not held against any of the outstanding balances, however the Group has the right to cancel the 
policy for non-payment. Based on the Group’s current aging analysis, all premiums receivable over 30 days 
are considered to be past due but not impaired. Customer accounts that become past due over 60 days are 
placed on-hold and those that are over 90 days past due are considered for impairment by management. 
Cancellation or extension of the terms of the credit is considered on a case by case basis. 

Reinsurance Balances Receivable 

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers 
to honor their obligations could result in losses to the Group; consequently, allowances are established for 
amounts deemed uncollectible. The Group evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors 
concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities, or economic characteristics 
of its reinsurers to minimize the exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies. 

The Group reviews the creditworthiness of reinsurers on an annual basis and only enters and maintains 
contracts with reinsurers that (1) have been rated as A- or higher by the AM Best credit rating agency and 
(2) have in excess of $500 million in capital and surplus. Current financial statements of the reinsurers are 
reviewed annually. Based on the individual reinsurance agreements, the Group may have the right to offset 
amounts due to reinsurers against any amounts due from reinsurers. 

Amounts due from reinsurers are assessed regularly for any indication of impairment. At December 31, 
2019, losses recoverable from reinsurers were due from reinsurers who all have an A.M. Best rating of at 
least A-. Management considers that there is no significant credit risk associated with any of the Group’s 
reinsurers. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Related-Party Receivables 

Amounts due from related parties are assessed and monitored for any indication of impairment. At 
December 31, 2019, the majority of amounts due from related parties were due from Gibbons Management 
Services Limited. At December 31, 2019, all amounts are considered collectible. 

The following table analyses the aging of the Group’s receivables as at December 31, 2019: 

 Accounts 
Receivable 

and Accrued 
Interest 

Insurance 
Balances 

Receivable 

Reinsurance 
Balances 

Receivable 

Losses 
Recoverable 

From 
Reinsurers 

Amounts 
Due From 

Related 
Companies Total  

       
Amounts not currently 

due or up to 30 days $ 6,285,458 $ 24,837,941 $ 7,495,363 $ 33,861,070 $ 19,035,553 $ 91,515,386 
31 – 60 days 118,274 4,501,883 15,974 – – 4,636,131 
61 – 90 days 99,121 2,743,826 3,940 – – 2,846,887 
Over 90 days 113,101 1,419,823 685,846 – – 2,218,770 
 $ 6,615,954 $ 33,503,473 $ 8,201,123 $ 33,861,070 $ 19,035,553 $ 101,217,173 

 
The following table analyses the aging of the Group’s receivables as at December 31, 2018: 

 Accounts 
Receivable 

and Accrued 
Interest 

Insurance 
Balances 

Receivable 

Reinsurance 
Balances 

Receivable 

Losses 
Recoverable 

From 
Reinsurers 

Amounts 
Due From 

Related 
Companies Total  

       
Amounts not currently 

due or up to 30 days $ 6,782,805 $ 24,090,644 $ 6,500,883 $ 30,710,145 $ 20,137,487 $ 88,221,965 
31 – 60 days 99,986 5,272,926 136,281 – – 5,509,193 
61 – 90 days 85,050 1,349,885 353,148 – – 1,788,083 
Over 90 days 109,038 1,209,232 796,826 – – 2,115,096 
 $ 7,076,879 $ 31,922,688 $ 7,787,138 $ 30,710,145 $ 20,137,487 $ 97,634,337 

 
Included in insurance balances receivable are amounts past due of $8,359,189 (2018 – $6,839,586) that are 
not considered to be impaired.  
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources for the payment of claims, policy 
benefits and operating expenses. In order to manage the Group’s liquidity risk, management seeks to 
maintain levels of cash and short-term deposits sufficient to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and 
stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The following table summarizes the contractual recovery or settlement of other assets held (within 12 
months from the balance sheet date) and the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities relating to financial 
instruments and insurance contracts: 

 2019  2018  
 Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total 
Financial assets       
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 86,928,964 $ 73,424 $ 87,002,388 $ 71,728,547 $ 73,405 $ 71,801,952 
Financial assets 179,922,881 75,860,272 255,783,153 160,493,427 77,680,707 238,174,134 
Accounts 

receivable and 
accrued interest 6,615,954 – 6,615,954 7,076,879 – 7,076,879 

Insurance 
balances 
receivable 33,503,473 – 33,503,473 31,922,688 – 31,922,688 

Reinsurance 
balances 
receivable 8,201,123 – 8,201,123 7,787,138 – 7,787,138 

Losses 
recoverable 
from reinsurers 33,861,070 – 33,861,070 30,710,145 – 30,710,145 

Provision for 
future policy 
benefits – 2,122,686 2,122,686 – 2,817,084 2,817,084 

Amounts due 
from related 
companies 12,792,095 6,243,458 19,035,553 13,729,683 6,407,804 20,137,487 

 $361,825,560 $ 84,299,840 $ 446,125,400 $323,448,507 $ 86,979,000 $ 410,427,507 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

 2019  2018  
 Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total 
Financial 

liabilities       
Bank overdraft $ 2,036,261 $ – $ 2,036,261 $ 2,309,677 $ – $ 2,309,677 
Outstanding 

losses and loss 
expenses 83,905,062 – 83,905,062 68,206,400 – 68,206,400 

Reinsurance 
balances 
payable – NL 15,931,083 – 15,931,083 12,690,371 – 12,690,371 

Lease liabilities 3,057,256 22,523,659 25,580,915 – – – 
Accounts payable 

and other 
liabilities 16,668,422 – 16,668,422 15,336,501 – 15,336,501 

Reinsurance 
balances 
payable-Life 7,532,781 102,964 7,635,745 – – – 

Policyholder 
benefits 
payable 4,200,289 – 4,200,289 3,609,189 – 3,609,189 

Funds held on 
behalf of 
clients 2,497,573 – 2,497,573 4,322,109 – 4,322,109 

Amounts due to 
related 
companies 1,050,808 – 1,050,808 673,391 – 673,391 

Total $136,879,535 $ 22,626,623 $159,506,158 $107,147,638 $ – $107,147,638 
       
Liquidity margin $224,946,025 $ 61,673,217 $286,619,242 $216,300,869 $86,979,000 $303,319,869 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as equity prices, interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of the Group’s market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

Although the Group is not directly exposed to market risk on the net assets held in segregated funds arising 
from investment contracts issued, the valuation and recoverability of deferred acquisition costs associated 
with investment contracts may be adversely affected by changes in value of the segregated funds. 

Interest-Rate Risk 

The Group invests in fixed interest debt securities and managed funds, the fair values of which are affected 
by changes in interest rates. The coupon rates and maturity dates associated with the fixed interest debt 
securities held by the Group is disclosed in Note 4. Details of interest rate risk on related party balances are 
disclosed in Note 14. 

As administrator of the segregated funds, the Group earns a fee based on the value of the segregated assets. 
Fluctuation in the valuation of segregated funds impact the fee earned by the Group. 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk arises from some of its subsidiaries which report in 
currencies other than the Bermuda or US dollar. These subsidiaries are BCHL which reports in the Cayman 
Islands dollar, and, S&GL, NIBAL and AMIL which report in the Bahamas dollar. The Group is exposed 
to risks that the exchange rate of the Bermuda/US dollar relative to the Cayman Islands or Bahamas dollar 
may change in a manner which will have an adverse effect on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
profit and related cash flows. This risk is mitigated as both the Cayman Islands and Bahamas dollar are 
pegged to the US dollar. As a result exposure to these currencies is insignificant for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 

All risks associated with the increase or decrease in value of the segregated funds due to fluctuation in 
foreign currency are borne by the policyholders of CLACL and pension plan holders of CPSL and CPSBL. 
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12. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued) 

Equity Price Risk 

The Group is subject to equity price risk due to daily changes in the market value of securities in its fund 
and equity portfolios. Equity price risk is actively managed in order to mitigate anticipated unfavorable 
market movements where this lies outside the risk appetite of the Group’s Investment Committee. 
Diversified portfolios of assets are held in order to reduce exposure to individual equities. At the balance 
sheet date management estimates that a 10% increase in prices for common equities and equity based 
managed funds held, with all other variables held constant, would increase net income by approximately 
$3,744,306 (2018 – $3,059,445). A 10% decrease in equity prices would have a corresponding decrease in 
net income. 

As administrator of the segregated fund, fluctuation in the valuation of the funds due to equity price changes 
impact the fee earned by the Group. 

Limitations of Sensitivity Analysis 

The sensitivity information included in this note and Note 7 demonstrates the estimated impact of a change 
in a major input assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there are normally 
significant levels of correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these 
sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from 
these results. Furthermore, estimates of sensitivity may become less reliable in unusual market conditions 
such as instances when risk free interest rates fall towards zero. 

13. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements 

The Group’s capital base is structured to exceed regulatory targets and desired capital ratios, maintain 
strong credit ratings and provide flexibility to take advantage of growth opportunities and provide an 
adequate return to shareholders. Capital is managed on a consolidated basis under principles that consider 
all the risks associated with the business. It is also managed at the business unit level under the principles 
appropriate to the jurisdiction in which it operates. The Board of Directors is responsible for devising the 
Group’s capital plan with management responsible for the implementation of the plan. The policy is 
designed to provide an appropriate level of risk management over capital adequacy risk, which is defined 
as the risk that capital is not or will not be sufficient to withstand adverse economic conditions, to maintain 
financial strength or to allow the Group to take advantage of opportunities for expansion. 
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13. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued) 

The Group’s capital base consists of common shares, share premium, contributed surplus, retained earnings 
and non-controlling interest. 

Common Shares 

 2019 2018 
   
Authorized share capital:   

3,012,000 common shares of par value $1 each $ 3,012,000 $ 3,012,000 
Issued and fully paid:   

1,512,000 common shares of par value $1 each $ 1,512,000 $ 1,512,000 

 
The group is authorized to issue 20,000,000 redeemable preferred shares. 

Share Premium 

Share premium represents the par value of the 2,500,000 common shares of CICL which were contributed 
to the Group as part of the corporate restructuring on January 30, 1996. 

Contributed Surplus 

A reassessment of assumptions used in valuing a business acquisition in 1995 resulted in $2,447,355 being 
recorded as contributed surplus. 

During 2009, the Group received a cash contribution of $7,000,000 from the parent company. 

In the periods 2010 through 2012 the Group received capital contributions totaling $357,114 by way of 
subsidized interest rates awarded to staff by an affiliate bank which was settled by the Group’s parent. 
Thereafter the expense has been charged to group companies. 
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13. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued) 

Non-Controlling Interests 

Non-controlling interest of $10,496,995 (2018 – $8,665,643) has been recorded in respect of the 25% non-
controlling holding in BCHL, $1,096,999 (2018 – $1,681,000) in respect of the 30% non-controlling 
interest in S&GL, $2,008,565 (2018 – $1,772,735) in respect of the 50% non-controlling holding in BVIL 
and $695,740 (2018 – $603,424), in respect of the 60% non-controlling holding of NIBAL. 

Statutory Requirements 

Management monitors the adequacy of the Group and its operating subsidiaries’ capital from the 
perspective of relevant legislation in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

The Group’s subsidiaries are required to maintain certain minimum levels of capital and surplus stipulated 
within each subsidiary’s jurisdiction. At the balance sheet date the Group’s subsidiaries had exceeded these 
requirements as noted below: 

 2019 2018 
 Minimum 

Required Actual 
Minimum 
Required Actual 

     
CICL $ 16,245,000 $ 23,400,692 $ 10,338,000 $ 20,295,508 
CMICL 31,638,000 117,178,638 27,830,000 97,148,182 
CLACL 1,994,000 18,611,092 3,384,000 16,909,073 
CRL 7,000,000 11,888,941 7,425,000 12,895,529 

 
Each year the Group is required to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the BMA), a capital and 
solvency return for the Group. The prescribed form of capital and solvency return comprises the insurer’s 
Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement model (Group BSCR), a schedule of fixed income investments by 
rating category, a schedule of net loss and loss expense provision by line of business, a schedule of 
premiums written by line of business, a schedule of risk management and a schedule of fixed income 
securities. 
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13. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued) 

The Group BSCR includes a standardized formula to measure the risk associated with an insurer’s assets, 
liabilities and premiums. The BMA requires insurers to maintain their capital at a target level which is 
120% of the amount calculated in accordance with the Group BSCR (the Enhanced Capital Requirement 
or ECR). 

At December 31, 2019, the Group’s ECR was $70,686,000 (unaudited) (2018 – $66,883,000). 

14. Related-Party Transactions 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties: 

(a) Income and Expenses 

The Group’s subsidiaries insure the commercial and health risks of several related companies. These risks 
are written at standard commercial rates and are subject to the normal reinsurance protections of the Group. 
The premiums written for related companies are approximately $11,963,252 for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 (2018 – $11,895,693). Of this, $585,309 (2018 – $915,929) is included in insurance 
balances receivable at the statement of financial position date. 

The following expenses, included in general and administrative expenses, are payable to related parties: 

 2019 2018 
   
Accountancy services $ 287,035 $ 287,035 
Rent – 3,977,417 
Pension costs 1,515,256 1,369,579 
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14. Related-Party Transactions (continued) 

Lease liabilities of $25,433,980 (2018 – $Nil) are due to companies owned in part by directors. 

(b) Year-end Balances  

 2019 2018 
Due from related parties   
Gibbons Management Services Limited $ 18,811,589 $ 19,914,399 
Colonial Master Retirement Trust (CMT) 56,277 58,841 
Colonial Master Deed (CMD) 167,687 164,247 
 $ 19,035,553 $ 20,137,487 

 
 2019 2018 
Due to related parties   
Colonial Master Deed $ – $ – 
Colonial Master Retirement Trust  1,050,808  673,391 
 $ 1,050,808 $ 673,391 

 
The amounts due to and from companies related through common control are due on demand. No provisions 
are held against amounts due from related parties (2018 – $Nil). The balance due from Gibbons 
Management Services Limited bears interest at rates varying from 3% to 5.75% per annum. The balances 
due from CMT and CMD are repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing. Included in investment 
income is net interest income of $1,135,405 (2018 – $1,087,474) received from GMSL. Balances with all 
other related parties are non-interest bearing. 

(a) Investments 

During the year, the Group used Clarien Bank Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries (Clarien) for 
certain banking, investment custodian, and investment management services. Prior to December 31, 2013, 
the Group and Clarien were related by common control. On December 31, 2013, CGIL’s parent company, 
Edmund Gibbons Limited (EGL), disposed of its controlling interest in Clarien. The Group and Clarien 
remained related parties due to a minority equity interest retained by EGL in 2014. During 2015 EGL 
regained a 100% controlling interest in Clarien. During 2017 NCB Financial Group Limited acquired 50.1% 
of Clarien Group Limited with EGL retaining 31.98% shareholding. 

  



 Colonial Group International Ltd. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Bermuda Dollars) 

 

  
 87

14. Related-Party Transactions (continued) 

As at December 31, 2019, the Group has cash on deposit with Clarien of $13,714,979 (2018 – $17,439,685). 

At December 31, 2019, the Group had 5 (2018 – 6) positions with an aggregate carrying value of 
$52,899,359 (2018 – $37,858,885) in investment funds managed by Clarien Bank Limited. 

At December 31, 2019, investments accounted for at fair value through profit and loss with a fair value of 
$141,495,708 (2018 – $102,672,869) and investments accounted for at amortized cost of $24,482,185 
(2018 – $47,086,850) were held and managed by Clarien Bank Limited. The transactions with Clarien Bank 
Limited occur on standard commercial terms. 

The Group paid investment fees of $1,003,923 (2018 – $821,954) to Clarien at fees ranging from 0.35% to 
0.5% of total net asset value of the investment portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

(b)  Key Management Compensation 

Compensation to key management employees deemed to be related parties under IAS 24 was as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Short term employee benefits $ 8,620,124 $ 7,862,653 
Defined contribution pension and medical insurance expenses 741,677 545,967 
 $ 9,361,801 $ 8,408,620 
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15. Leases 

The Group lease contracts for buildings and motor vehicles with up to five year term and options to renew 
for up to a further ten years. Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements 
during the period: 

 2019 
  
As at January 1, 2019 $ – 
Additions 27,631,729 
Accretion of interest 1,323,411 
Depreciation on disposals (9,486) 
Payments (3,364,739) 
As at December 31, 2019 $ 25,580,915 
  
Current $ 3,057,256 
Non-current $ 22,523,659 

 
The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss: 

 2019 
  
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets $ 2,617,514 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  1,323,411 
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in property expenses)  220,725 
Total amount recognized in profit or loss $ 4,161,650 

 
The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $3,585,465 in 2019. The Group also had non-cash additions 
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $27,631,729 in 2019. 
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16. Segregated Funds 

Segregated funds comprise holdings in mutual funds and cash held on behalf of pension plan clients, 
investors and holders of investment contracts. 

 2019 2018 
The assets are held in the trust as follows:   
   
Colonial Private Trustee Limited – CPTL $ 35,738,876 $ 45,500,013 
Colonial Master Deed – Cayman Islands – CMD 312,240,738 260,708,841 
Colonial Master Retirement Trust – CMRT 218,282,164 196,613,054 
Colonial Individual Master Retirement Trust – CIMRT 87,391,251 68,203,312 
Colonial Bahamas Fund 128,564,291 119,563,985 
Privately Held Funds – Bahamas 8,703,682 8,424,492 
Colonial Life Unit Trust 75,180,105 66,715,091 
Scotia Bank BVI/TCI Pension Plans 337,391 – 
 $ 866,438,498 $ 765,728,788 

 
The assets held in trust by CPTL, CMT, CMD and CIMRT are in respect of pension plans administered by 
CPSL in Bermuda and Cayman. 

The assets held in trust by Colonial Bahamas Fund and private funds in Bahamas are in respect of pension 
plans administered by CPSBL in the Bahamas. 

Colonial Life Unit Trust is registered as an exempted trust in the Cayman Islands. The Fund is organized 
as a Multi Fund Unit Trust, providing for creation of any number of classes of units. The assets are held on 
behalf of holders of investment contracts issued by CLAC. 
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16. Segregated Funds (continued) 

The underlying investments of the segregated funds consist exclusively of managed funds and cash with 
the exception of funds administered by CPSBL. The carrying value is as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Managed funds $ 83,985,785 $ 586,477,148 
Fixed maturity securities 306,277,764 80,313,076 
Common equity securities 392,402,064 13,538,121 
Preferred shares 18,244,054 21,515,391 
Cash and accruals 65,528,831 63,885,052 
Total segregated fund assets at end of year $ 866,438,498 $ 765,728,788 

 
Changes in net assets during the year are as follows: 

 2019 2018 
   
Net assets at beginning of period $ 765,728,788 $ 798,634,079 
   
Increase during the period   
Amounts received from unit holders 103,992,829 99,083,390 
Net increase in market value of investments 106,077,910 – 
 210,070,739 99,083,390 
Decrease during the period   
Amounts withdrawn by unit holders 108,581,674 83,212,374 
Net decrease in market value of investments – 47,571,805 
Amounts withdrawn for life premiums 927,603 1,111,306 
Surrender values reverting to the Group (148,248) 93,196 
 109,361,029 131,988,681 
Net assets at end of period $ 866,438,498 $ 765,728,788 

 
As a result of administering the above pension assets, the Group earned investment management fees in the 
amount of $11,437,093 (2018 – $11,392,088). 
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17. General and Administrative 

 2019 2018 
   
Staff $ 44,917,111 $ 42,065,586 
Property 3,946,752 7,133,508 
Professional 5,541,625 5,164,960 
Computer 5,066,073 4,924,198 
Depreciation and amortization 6,736,832 4,215,040 
Marketing 2,934,569 3,302,145 
Travel 1,981,791 2,197,966 
Office 1,609,336 1,527,283 
Corporate fees 1,230,380 1,354,230 
Communications 1,101,144 1,112,110 
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 450,393 540,647 
Donations 226,393 136,151 
Memberships and subscriptions 178,375 134,450 
Other expenses including finance charges 3,134,338 2,808,971 
Total general and administration expenses $ 79,055,112 $ 76,617,245 
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18. Change in Operating Working Capital 

 2019 2018 
   
(Increase) decrease in:   

Accounts receivable and accrued interest $ 460,925 $ 3,707,821 
Insurance and reinsurance balances receivable (1,994,770) (768,353) 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums (3,706,197) (4,129,267) 
Losses recoverable from reinsurers (3,150,925) 46,906,144 
Deferred acquisition costs (384,572) (606,099) 
Prepaids and other assets 244,528 (659,619) 

   
Increase (decrease) in:   

Outstanding losses and loss expenses 15,698,662 (63,052,786) 
Provision for future policy benefits and policyholder 

benefits payable 1,285,498 (1,461,321) 
Reinsurance balances payable – Life (282,673) 853,212 
Unearned premiums 4,591,004 6,817,856 
Premiums received in advance (5,572) (36,475) 
Deferred commission income 960,690 1,000,575 
Reinsurance balances payable – Non-life 3,240,712 2,595,154 
Funds held on behalf of clients (1,824,536) 75,419 
Contributions payable to segregated funds (19,996) (345,642) 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1,331,921 250,976 
Adjustment for profit commission 624,958 – 

 $ 17,069,657 $ (8,852,405) 
 
19. Dividends 

During the year, the Group declared a dividend payable to its sole shareholder of $4,000,000 (2018 – 
$5,000,000). Subsequent to year-end, a dividend in the amount of $7,000,000 was declared. 
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20. Investments in Associate 

On June 12, 2019, the group completed the purchase of 40% of the shareholders’ equity of Beacon 
Insurance Company Limited with the option to make an additional investment in 2021. If an additional 
investment is made, on completion, this acquisition will deliver 6 additional licenses to offer insurance 
products in the southern and eastern Caribbean. Management expects the acquisition to be accretive within 
3 years of the businesses being fully integrated. 

 2019 
  
Purchase of 40% equity interest $ 10,059,866 
Subscription for additional share capital 1,582,208 
Loss in value of investment in associate (267,533) 
Total investment in associate $ 11,374,541 
  
Advance of short term loan capital $ 1,448,066 

 
In the 6 month period July 2019 through December 2019, the company reported (unaudited) losses after 
tax of TT$4,519k and the Group booked its 40% share of these losses as ($267,533). Management’s opinion 
is that these losses are due to one-off costs, which if removed would have resulted in an operating profit. 
Therefore, management continues to believe the acquisition will be accretive to the Group once the 
businesses are fully integrated.  
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21. Adjustment for Profit Commission 

The Medical Group Life & LTD. reinsurance contracts include clauses whereby the Colonial Medical 
Insurance Company Limited (CMIC) and Atlantic Medical Insurance Company (AMI), two wholly owned 
subsidiaries (together referred to as “Colonial Health Group”), receive a share in reinsurance profits based 
on their combined past underwriting results. The profit commissions are calculated at the Colonial Health 
Group level and then allocated between CMIC and AMI based on experience of each company on an accrual 
basis. However, since 2016, the Colonial Health Group has made an overall deficit and continued to 
recognize an accrual. As a consequence, a liability was recorded by CMIC and receivable by AMI. Upon 
evaluation it was determined, that based on the terms of the contract there is no present obligation for CMIC 
to provide or AMI to receive profit commission because the net result is a deficit. As a result, the opening 
retained earnings has been adjusted by $624,958 for the current year to reflect the cumulative effect of the 
accrual reversal. The amount of profit commission was not material to the results of operations for the years 
ended December 2018 and 2017. 

22. Subsequent Events COVID-19 Pandemic 

The Group has completed its subsequent events evaluation for the period subsequent to the balance sheet 
through May 13, 2020, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.  

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, there has been a global coronavirus outbreak (“COVID-19”) that may 
have a significant impact on the Group. The extent of the impact, which could result in the Group 
experiencing insurance and reinsurance claims activity and investment losses, will depend on future 
developments. In addition, the Group’s operations could be materially and adversely impacted as a result 
of office closures, quarantine measures, travel restrictions, and the disease’s impact on the health of the 
Group’s employees. As of the date of issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the outbreak is 
still evolving, and thus there is significant uncertainty as to its ultimate impact on the Group. 

There were no other subsequent events requiring disclosure or recognition in the audited financial 
statements. 
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